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Minute 
Monitoring and Audit Committee 
Wednesday, 29 November 2023, 12 noon. 

Council Chamber, Council Offices, School Place, Kirkwall. 

Present 
Councillors Alexander G Cowie, P Lindsay Hall, Stephen G Clackson, W Leslie Manson, 
John A R Scott, Gillian Skuse and Mellissa-Louise Thomson. 

Councillor James W Stockan, who had been invited for Items 1 and 2. 

Clerk 
• Hazel Flett, Services Manager (Governance). 

In Attendance 
• Oliver Reid, Chief Executive. 
• Karen Greaves, Corporate Director for Strategy, Performance and Business Solutions. 
• Gareth Waterson, Corporate Director for Enterprise and Sustainable Regeneration. 
• Gavin Mitchell, Head of Legal and Governance. 
• Erik Knight, Head of Finance. 
• Alex Rodwell, Head of Improvement and Performance. 
• Andrew Paterson, Chief Internal Auditor. 

KPMG 
• Michael Wilkie, Public Sector Audit Director. 

In Attendance via Remote Link (Microsoft Teams) 
• Matthew Moore, Senior Manager, KPMG. 
• Taimoor Alam, Audit Manager, KPMG. 

Observing 
• Stephen Brown, Chief Officer, Orkney Health and Social Care Partnership. 
• Hayley Green, Corporate Director for Neighbourhood Services and Infrastructure. 
• Andrew Groundwater, Head of Human Resources and Organisational Development. 
• Shonagh Merriman, Service Manager (Corporate Finance). 
• Pat Robinson, Service Manager (Accounting). 
• Shannon MacLeod, Team Manager (Accounting). 
• Kirsty Groundwater, Team Manager (Communications) (for Items 1 and 2).  
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Declarations of Interest 
• No declarations of interest were intimated. 

Chair 
• Councillor Alexander G Cowie. 

1. Audit Report to those charged with Governance 
After consideration of a report by the Corporate Director for Enterprise and Sustainable 
Regeneration, copies of which had been circulated, and after hearing a report from the 
Public Sector Audit Director, KPMG, the Committee: 

Noted: 

1.1. That KPMG, as the Council’s external auditor, had undertaken its audit of Orkney 
Islands Council’s Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2023. 

1.2. That KPMG was planning to issue an unqualified audit opinion on the Council’s 
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2023. 

1.3. That the draft audit report stated that the financial statements had been properly 
prepared in accordance with applicable law, accounting standards and other reporting 
requirements. 

1.4. That, during the course of the audit, there were six corrected audit misstatements and 
two uncorrected misstatements, as detailed on pages 50-54 of the Annual Audit Report to 
Members and the Controller of Audit, attached as Appendix 3 to the report by the 
Corporate Director for Enterprise and Sustainable Regeneration. 

1.5. KPMG’s independent auditor’s report in respect of the audit of Orkney Islands 
Council’s Annual Accounts for 2022/23, attached as Appendix 1 to the report by the 
Corporate Director for Enterprise and Sustainable Regeneration, in accordance with the 
International Standard on Auditing 260. 

1.6. The Annual Audit Report to the Council and the Auditor General for Scotland, 
attached as Appendix 3 to the report by the Corporate Director for Enterprise and 
Sustainable Regeneration. 

On the motion of Councillor P Lindsay Hall, seconded by Councillor Stephen G Clackson, 
the Committee resolved, in terms of delegated powers: 

1.7. That Orkney Islands Council’s Letter of Representation to KPMG in connection with its 
audit of the financial statements of Orkney Islands Council for the year ended 31 March 
2023, attached as Appendix 1 to this Minute, be approved. 
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2. Annual Accounts 
After consideration of a report by the Corporate Director for Enterprise and Sustainable 
Regeneration, copies of which had been circulated, the Committee: 

Noted: 

2.1. The requirement, in terms of the Local Authority Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 
2014, for a local authority, or a committee of the authority, whose remit included audit or 
governance functions, to consider and approve the audited Annual Accounts for signature 
no later than 30 September immediately following the financial year to which the accounts 
relate. 

2.2. That, although the unaudited annual accounts were submitted to KPMG by the 
required deadline of 30 June 2023, as this was the first year of KPMG’s 5-year 
appointment as the Council’s external auditors and, given the pressures on the audit 
profession, together with changes to certain auditing standards, certain aspects of the 
audit were still ongoing and could not be completed in time to allow a full audit opinion to 
be reached before 30 September 2023. 

2.3. That Audit Scotland had been notified of the situation outlined above and had been in 
regular contact with KPMG, and all other auditors, to monitor progress with the 2022/23 
audits, as it was known this year would prove challenging to meet the 30 September 
deadline.  

2.4. That, in order to enable KPMG to complete their first year of auditing the accounts, the 
signed Annual Accounts, together with an appropriate audit certificate, would be published 
as soon as possible after approval. 

The Committee resolved, in terms of delegated powers: 

2.5. That the Annual Accounts for financial year 2022/23, including the Annual 
Governance Statement, attached as Appendix 2 to this Minute, be approved. 

3. Best Value Thematic Report 2022/23 
After consideration of a report by the Corporate Director for Strategy, Performance and 
Business Solutions, copies of which had been circulated, and after hearing a report from 
the Public Sector Audit Director, KPMG, the Committee: 

Scrutinised the key messages and improvement actions outlined in the Best Value 
Thematic Report 2022/23: Leadership in the development of the Council’s strategic 
priorities, attached as Appendix 1 to the report by the Corporate Director for Strategy, 
Performance and Business Solutions, and obtained assurance.  

4. Conclusion of Meeting 
At 13:12 the Chair declared the meeting concluded. 

Signed: A G Cowie. 
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ENTERPRISE AND SUSTAINABLE REGENERATION 
Corporate Director: Gareth O Waterson BAcc CA 
Council Offices, Kirkwall, Orkney, KW15 1NY 

Tel:  (01856) 873535 Website: www.orkney.gov.uk 
Email: gareth.waterson@orkney.gov.uk 

If telephoning, please ask for Gareth Waterson on mobile +44 7703 795722 

Our Ref:  
Your Ref: 

Date: 29 November 2023 

KPMG LLP 
319 St Vincent Street Glasgow 
G2 5AS 

Dear Sirs, 

This representation letter is provided in connection with your audit of the financial statements of 
Orkney Island Council (“the Council”), for the year ended 31st March 2023 for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion: 

i. as to whether these financial statements, in accordance with the Code of Practice on
Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2022/23 give a true and fair view of
the state of the Council and Group’s affairs as at 31st March 2023 and of the Council
and Group’s income and expenditure for the financial year then ended;

ii. whether the Council and Group financial statements have been properly prepared in
accordance with UK adopted international accounting standards, as interpreted and
adapted by the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom
2022-23; and

iii. whether the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973, The Local Authority
Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2014, and the Local Government in Scotland Act 2003.

These financial statements comprise the following: Group and Council Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statements, Group and Council Balance Sheets, Group and Council 
Movement in Reserves Statement, Group and Council Cash Flow Statements, the Council Tax 
Income Account, the Non-domestic Rates Income Account, the Housing Revenue Account the 
Harbour Authority Account, the Orkney College Account and notes to the financial statements, 
including significant accounting policies. 

I confirm that, the representations made in this letter are in accordance with the definitions set 
out in the Appendix to this letter. 
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I confirm that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, having made such inquiries as I 
considered necessary for the purpose of appropriately informing myself:  

Financial statements 

1. I have fulfilled my responsibilities, as set out in the terms of the audit engagement letter
dated 18 March 2022, for the preparation of financial statements that:

i. give a true and fair view of the state of the Council and Group’s own affairs as at
the end of its financial year and of the Council and Group’s own income and
expenditure for that financial year;

ii. have been properly prepared in accordance with UK adopted international
accounting standards, as interpreted, and adapted by the Code of Practice on
Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2022/23; and

iii. have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Local
Government (Scotland) Act 1973, The Local Authority Accounts (Scotland)
Regulations 2014, and the Local Government in Scotland Act 2003.

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. 

2. The methods, the data and the significant assumptions used by me in making
accounting estimates and their related disclosures are appropriate to achieve
recognition, measurement or disclosure that is reasonable in the context of the
applicable financial reporting framework.

3. All events subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which IAS 10
Events after the reporting period requires adjustment or disclosure have been adjusted
or disclosed.

4. The effects of uncorrected misstatements are immaterial, both individually and in
aggregate, to the financial statements as a whole. A list of the uncorrected
misstatements are included in Appendix 2

Information provided 

5. I have provided you with:

• access to all information of which I am aware, that is relevant to the preparation of
the  financial statements, such as records, documentation and other matters;

• additional information that you have requested from me for the purpose of the
audit; and

• unrestricted access to persons within the Council from whom you determined it
necessary to obtain audit evidence.

6. All transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the
financial statements.
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7. I confirm the following:

I have disclosed to you the results of my assessment of the risk that the financial
statements may be materially misstated as a result of fraud.

Included in the Appendix 1 to this letter are the definitions of fraud, including
misstatements arising from fraudulent financial reporting and from misappropriation of
assets.

8. I have disclosed to you all information in relation to:

a) Fraud or suspected fraud that I am aware of and that affects the Council and involves:

• management;
• employees who have significant roles in internal control; or
• others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements;

and

b) allegations of fraud, or suspected fraud, affecting the Council’s financial statements
communicated by employees, former employees, analysts, regulators or others.

In respect of the above, I acknowledge my responsibility for such internal control as I 
determine necessary for the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In particular, I acknowledge my responsibility 
for the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control to prevent and detect 
fraud and error.  

9. I have disclosed to you all known instances of non-compliance or suspected non-
compliance with laws and regulations whose effects should be considered when preparing
the financial statements.

10. I have disclosed to you and have appropriately accounted for and/or disclosed in the
financial statements, in accordance with IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets, all known actual or possible litigation and claims whose effects should
be considered when preparing the financial statements.

11. I have disclosed to you the identity of the Council’s related parties and all the related party
relationships and transactions of which I am aware. All related party relationships and
transactions have been appropriately accounted for and disclosed in accordance with IAS
24 Related Party Disclosures.

Included in the Appendix 1 to this letter are the definitions of both a related party and a
related party transaction as I understand them and as defined in IAS 24.

12. On the basis of the process established by the Council and having made appropriate
enquiries, I am satisfied that the actuarial assumptions underlying the valuation of defined
benefit obligations are consistent with my knowledge of the business and in accordance
with the requirements of IAS19 Employee Benefits.
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Appendix 1 to the Board Representation Letter of Orkney Island Council: Definitions 

Financial Statements 

IAS 1.10 states that “a complete set of financial statements comprises: 

• a statement of financial position as at the end of the period;
• a statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the period;
• a statement of changes in equity for the period;
• a statement of cash flows for the period;
• notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory

information;
• comparative information in respect of the preceding period as specified in IAS 1

paragraphs 38 and 38A; and
• a statement of financial position as at the beginning of the preceding period when an

entity applies an accounting policy retrospectively or makes a retrospective restatement
of items in its financial statements, or when it reclassifies items in its financial statements
in accordance with IAS 1 paragraphs 40A-40D.

An entity may use titles for the statements other than those used in this Standard. For example, 
an entity may use the title ‘statement of comprehensive income’ instead of ‘statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income’.”  

Material Matters 

Certain representations in this letter are described as being limited to matters that are material. 

IAS 1.7 and IAS 8.5 state that: 

“Material omissions or misstatements of items are material if they could, individually or 
collectively, influence the economic decisions that users make on the basis of the financial 
statements. Materiality depends on the size and nature of the omission or misstatement judged 
in the surrounding circumstances. The size or nature of the item, or a combination of both, could 
be the determining factor.”  

Fraud 

Fraudulent financial reporting involves intentional misstatements including omissions of 
amounts or disclosures in financial statements to deceive financial statement users. 

Misappropriation of assets involves the theft of an entity’s assets.  It is often accompanied by 
false or misleading records or documents in order to conceal the fact that the assets are missing 
or have been pledged without proper authorisation. 

Error 

An error is an unintentional misstatement in financial statements, including the omission of an 
amount or a disclosure. 
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Prior period errors are omissions from, and misstatements in, the entity’s financial statements 
for one or more prior periods arising from a failure to use, or misuse of, reliable information that: 

• was available when financial statements for those periods were authorised for issue; and

• could reasonably be expected to have been obtained and taken into account in the
preparation and presentation of those financial statements.

Such errors include the effects of mathematical mistakes, mistakes in applying accounting 
policies, oversights or misinterpretations of facts, and fraud. 

Management 

For the purposes of this letter, references to “management” should be read as “management 
and, where appropriate, those charged with governance”.   

Related Party and Related Party Transaction 

Related party: 

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the entity that is preparing its financial 
statements (referred to in IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures as the “reporting entity”). 

1. A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to a reporting entity if that
person:

• has control or joint control over the reporting entity;

• has significant influence over the reporting entity; or

• is a member of the key management personnel of the reporting entity or of a parent of
the reporting entity.

2. An entity is related to a reporting entity if any of the following conditions applies:

• The entity and the reporting entity are members of the same group (which means that
each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

• One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

• Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

• One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

• The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the
reporting entity or an entity related to the reporting entity.  If the reporting entity is
itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also related to the reporting entity.

• The entity is controlled, or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

• A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).
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• The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the reporting entity or to the parent of the reporting entity.

A reporting entity is exempt from the disclosure requirements of IAS 24.18 in relation to related 
party transactions and outstanding balances, including commitments, with: 

• a government that has control or joint control of, or significant influence over the
reporting entity; and

• another entity that is a related party because the same government has control or
joint control of, or significant influence over, both the reporting entity and the other
entity.

Related party transaction: 

A transfer of resources, services or obligations between a reporting entity and a related party, 
regardless of whether a price is charged. 
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Council Mission and Strategic Priorities 

What are we aiming to achieve for Orkney? 

The Orkney Partnership 

The Council works alongside four other lead 
agencies in Orkney to maintain and deliver 
Orkney’s Community Plan. The Council, NHS 
Orkney, Highlands and Islands Enterprise (HIE), Police Scotland and Scottish Fire and Rescue 
Service all have a statutory duty to facilitate community planning. This group works in partnership with 

a network of other public, private and third sector 
agencies across Orkney with the shared mission of 
“Working together for a better Orkney”. 

The aim of Community Planning is to achieve better 
outcomes than would otherwise be achieved if they each 
worked separately. The Council supports the long-term 
ambitions of the Partnership by sharing both its mission 
and values, and by aligning the Council’s five priorities 
in the Council Plan with those of the Partnership’s three 
priorities. 

The Community Plan, incorporating the Local 
Outcomes Improvement Plan, can be found at the 
following link:  Orkney Community Plan 2023-2030 
incorporating the LOIP (orkneycommunities.co.uk) 

The Council Plan 
Our strategic plan for 2023 to 2028 focuses on growing Orkney's economy, strengthening its 
communities and developing local infrastructure over the next five years. 

The 'Council Plan 2023 – 2028’ sets out the key priorities for the Council over the next five years as 
well as the actions and projects that will need to be completed to meet those. 

The priorities were developed following feedback from the public, as well as reflecting national 
priorities set by both the Scottish and UK Governments, the core services which the Council 
provides day to day and new duties arising from recent legislation. 

Progress on the approved plan will be reported to Councillors every six months, with the actions 
attached to each priority subject to review depending on the changing political and financial 
landscapes affecting the work and resources of the Council.  
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and staff retention and recruitment. The award recognised the many good things that were already 
happening under Our People Our Plan and the subsequent IiP improvement plan that was developed 
will help achieve the next level by providing a focus on priorities and respond to staff feedback. 

Pay and Grading 

Although the Scottish Local Government Living Wage is already consolidated in terms of being the 
minimum level of pay and is applicable for pay purposes such as overtime and allowances, the 
Council had not adjusted its pay and grading model to take account of the pay compression that this 
rate of pay causes. Therefore, there was a new pay and grading model approved and backdated to 
April 2021. This ensured that all staff on lower grades are remunerated on a fair basis. 

Scapa Flow Visitor Centre 

The Scapa Flow Visitor Centre reopened in July 2022. This £4.3M project to refurbish and extend the 
Scapa Flow visitor centre was supported by Orkney Islands Council, the National Lottery Heritage 
Fund, Historic Environment Scotland, the Orkney LEADER Programme 2014-2020, Highlands and 
Islands Enterprise, NatureScot and Museums Galleries Scotland. It has recently been selected as 
one of five finalists for Art Fund Museum of the Year 2023, the world’s largest museum prize. 

Appointment of new Chief Executive 
On Monday 23 January 2023, Orkney Islands Council welcomed Oliver Reid as the new Chief 
Executive.  Mr Reid has joined OIC from Renfrewshire Council where he was Head of Communities 
and Public Protection.  He took over from interim Chief Executive, John Mundell, who had been with 
the Council for three and a half years. 

Finance and Performance 

Financial information is a key part of the Council’s Strategic Planning and Performance Framework 
with Council Services’ financial performance regularly reported to members and their respective 
Committees. In reviewing the financial performance of the Council, the trading activities including the 
Housing Revenue Account, Harbour Authority including Strategic Reserve Fund, and Orkney College 
all need to be recognised in addition to that of General Fund Services. 

The Strategic Reserve Fund, held as part of the Harbour Authority Account, has been applied to 
supplement the General Fund services as part of an agreed medium-term financial strategy. For the 
financial year 2022-23 it was agreed that £8.263M from the Strategic Reserve Fund be used as a 
funding source to supplement the General Fund Services revenue budget. The purpose and strategy 
of the Strategic Reserve Fund is detailed under the Harbour Authority Account section.  

Revenue Expenditure 

General Fund 

Most day-to-day income and expenditure on service provision is accounted for in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) which includes all activities associated with the General 
Fund Services, the Housing Revenue Account and Harbour Authority. 

The revenue outturn position will be reported to the Policy & Resources Committee on 19 September 
2023. 

The following table shows the linkage between the budget figures reported to committee and the 
figures in the Annual Accounts. 

Note 7 provides a reconciliation of the £0.205M of accounting adjustments that are made to the net 
expenditure chargeable to the Fund Balances to arrive at the amounts in the CIES. 
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Savings 
As government funding continues to reduce in real terms, the Council recognises the financial 
challenges that come with the ongoing reduction in resources. The graph below shows the level of 
savings that Orkney Islands Council has delivered over the last five years and also the contributions 
taken from the Strategic Reserve Fund over the same period. 

The 2023/24 budget included a contribution from reserves of £15.6 million to ensure a balanced 
budget. The medium-term financial strategy for the period 2023/24 to 2027/28 highlights that a 
growing contribution from reserves to meet in-year service costs is no longer sustainable, and 
baseline budgets need to return closer to funding levels. The indicative budget forecasts estimate a 
funding gap of £27.1M by 2027/28 without corrective action. Within the Council’s Long Term Financial 
Plan for the period 2018 to 2030 it stated that the Council would face a best-case scenario cumulative 
funding gap of £23.6M over this period, with a worst-case scenario of £145.6M, with the most likely 
scenario at £65.7M. This included a planning assumption that the financial contributions from the 
Strategic Reserve Fund will be maintained over this period. A revised Long-Term Financial Plan 
needs to be developed to take into consideration changes in current assumptions including the 
ongoing pressures resulting from Brexit, COVID 19, the war in Ukraine and the instability within 
economic markets. 
The Corporate Leadership Team are actively looking to review all services and to identify ways to 
increase revenue, reduce costs, and/or redesign operating models to deliver the significant 
efficiencies that will be required to set a balanced budget in 2024/25.
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Strategic Reserve Fund managed fund investments decreased to a total of £245.649M, which after 
allowing for transfer or cash outflows, represents a loss of 5.3% on the year, with further analysis 
provided at Note 15. 

After allowing for amounts required by statute and non-statutory proper accounting practice, including 
the use of reserves during the year, which included net contributions of £8.614M to support General 
Fund services, the net effect has been a reduction of £27.412M on the Harbour Authority Account 
Reserves for the year.  

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 

The HRA returned a surplus on its operations of £2.851M which can largely be attributed to 
revaluation of housing stock during the current year (loss £3.041M for 2021-22). After allowing for 
accounting for fixed assets and employee pension benefits, accelerated debt repayment and transfers 
to/from Reserves, the HRA achieved a deficit position of £0.174M for the year resulting in a reserve 
balance of £0.503M as at 31 March 2023 (£0.677M as at 31 March 2022). 

Orkney College 

The range of higher and further educational activities provided by the College returned a deficit of 
£0.797M for the year (deficit of £0.784M for 2021-22). A large proportion of this accounting deficit can 
be attributed directly to being unable to achieve external funding to supplement core Scottish Funding 
Council support. On a funding basis, the net effect of the Orkney College activities resulted in a deficit 
of £0.620M for the year resulting in a shortfall of £0.139M as at 31 March 2023 (surplus £0.481M as 
at 31 March 2022). 

Orkney Integration Joint Board 

The Orkney Integration Joint Board (OIJB) was established as a body corporate by order of Scottish 
Ministers with effect from 6 February 2016. The main purpose of the OIJB is to plan, resource and 
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oversee the delivery of high-quality health and social care services for and with the people of Orkney. 
The Council and the NHS are jointly accountable for the delivery of services by the OIJB.  

The OIJB is included as a joint venture within the Group Accounts on the basis that the parties have 
joint equal rights to the net assets. A comprehensive review of the Integration Scheme was 
undertaken which was approved by NHS Orkney and Orkney Islands Council. The revised Integration 
Scheme was approved by Scottish Government in May 2022. 

Capital Expenditure 

Capital expenditure represents money spent by the Council for buying, upgrading or improving assets 
such as buildings and roads. The Council receives the benefit from capital expenditure over a period 
exceeding one year, and the expenditure is financed and accounted for over the useful life of the 
assets. Further details, including the comparative figures are provided in Note 28. 

It is recognised that in setting an ambitious capital programme, it was not deliverable due to 
weaknesses in the forward planning process, and this has resulted in a significant amount of capital 
programme slippage in previous years. Slippage is defined as capital projects which have not 
progressed in accordance with provisions made within the capital programme – this has been further 
compounded during the last financial year by reduced capacity within the construction industry, 
material shortages and delays with the delivery of plant and vehicles.  Although there can be positive 
consequences of slippage this is recognised as a weakness on the basis that these delays are likely 
to result in higher costs for the Council to deliver the approved capital programme. 
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Progress on the 81 Council Plan actions can be summarised below: 

Local and National Statutory Performance Indicators 2020-21 

The Council is an active participant in the Local Government Benchmarking Framework (LGBF) 
despite being identified as a significant outlier, along with our counterparts in the other island 
authorities, in a number of indicators including cost per pupil; self-directed support; residential care 
and democratic core costs.  

The Council has mapped the LGBF indicators against the OIC target outcomes and priorities in the 
Council Plan. The most recent LGBF performance data is for the year ending 31 March 2021. 

The most recent LGBF data for the Council is available at the following link: Local Government 
Benchmarking Framework 
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Looking ahead 

The Council’s capital programme is progressing and includes a new nursery in Kirkwall, for which the 
Council received £1.683M grant funding from the Scottish Government’s Islands Infrastructure Fund, 
house builds and the new Kirkwall Care Facility. 
More focussed work is underway to address recruitment and retention to address the high number of 
vacancies. In addition, services will be looking at service redesign to address the budgetary 
challenges in line with the Medium-Term Financial Strategy. 

Islands Deal 
On 20th January 2023 Orkney Islands Council along with Shetland Islands Council and Comhairle 
nan Eilean Siar formally signed the ‘Full Deal’, an agreement between UK and Scottish Government 
to make long-term investments tailored to the needs and strengths of the islands, referred to as the 
Islands Growth Deal.  This is modelled on the City and Regional Growth Deals delivered across the 
UK. 

The UK and Scottish Governments will each invest £50 million, over 10 years, which could deliver 
up to £393 million investment across the three island groups, creating up to 1,300 jobs while 
developing sustainable communities. 

The Islands Growth Deal aims to harness the islands’ unique assets to create world class, 
innovative and globally focussed industries that will help address the islands’ severe demographic 
challenges and strengthen the distinct and important contribution the islands make to the economic 
vitality and international reputation of Scotland and the United Kingdom.    

Across the three island groups it aims to: 
• Create up to 1,300 sustainable jobs
• Support the islands to be among the first places in the UK to achieve net zero.
• Create internationally significant new port infrastructure that will play an important role in

supporting Scotland and the UK to achieve net zero targets.
• Strengthen the Islands’ place as unique ‘living laboratories’ for global innovation in low

carbon technologies, wellbeing research and sustainable food production in partnership with
their leading universities and research institutes.

• Showcase the Islands’ outstanding natural environment, heritage, culture and creativity to
the world.

• Create the foundation for an innovation-focused recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic and
support inclusive growth across all the Island communities.

The three local authorities are working together to deliver joint projects including the Islands Centre 
for Net Zero, Creative Islands and Wellbeing and TalEntEd Islands whilst also taking forward Island 
specific projects.  The projects specific to Orkney include: 

• Orkney Research and Innovation Campus Phase 2
• Orkney Vertical Farm
• Orkney World Heritage Site Gateway
• Scapa Flow Future Fuels Hub

Projects are developing their business cases in line with The Green Book which is guidance issued 
by HM Treasury on options appraisal and applies to all proposals that concern public spending 
using the 5 case business model.  Once approved by the Joint Islands Programme Board and Joint 
Islands Committee, Scottish and UK Government projects will be able to draw down funding.   
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The Islands Centre for Net Zero, a partnership of organisations with a large footprint within Orkney 
and led by the European Marine Energy Centre has already had elements of its business case 
approved and are in the early phases of project delivery.   

Community Wind Farm 
Orkney’s Community Wind Farm project comprises three Council owned windfarms each with 
28.8MW capacity (86.4MW total).  The three sites have all achieved planning permission, with two 
awarded a guaranteed price for electricity under the Contracts for Difference auction.  The project 
requires a new subsea transmission connection to Orkney in order to be built out.  Ofgem has 
issued a minded to approval for the Needs Case for the interconnector, with full approval expected 
imminently.  The interconnector is due to be delivered in 2027, and independent financial analysis 
indicates an average annual real profit (in today’s money) of c. £6 million per year to the Council. 

Economic Opportunities 
Offshore wind is emerging as a major growth industry for Scotland and the UK; a key catalyst is the 
ScotWind leasing round, led by Crown Estate Scotland, which has culminated in multiple offshore 
wind projects that have the potential to realise up to 27 Gigawatts of renewable power and an 
average investment (per project) of £1.4 billion in Scotland’s supply chain.  
This represents a significant step forward in transition to net zero, supporting the Scottish and UK 
Governments’ targets to achieve net zero by 2045 and 2050 respectively. Generating renewable 
energy and accelerating the transition process also has a significant role to play in protecting energy 
security for the UK. 
To enable delivery of current ScotWind and future offshore wind projects additional and suitable port 
capacity is needed in Scotland. The proximity of Orkney and natural harbour asset of Scapa Flow to 
the offshore wind sites presents a significant opportunity that the Council is exploring. 

Conclusion 

Overall, the Management Commentary reflects well on both the efforts and professionalism of officers 
and on the Council’s financial management, scrutiny and monitoring procedures. 
We would wish to take this opportunity to acknowledge the team effort required to produce the 
accounts and to record our thanks to both the Enterprise and Sustainable Regeneration Service and 
colleagues in other services for their continued hard work and support. Further information on the 
Annual Accounts or on the Council’s general finances can be obtained at the Council Offices, School 
Place, Kirkwall, Orkney, KW15 1NY, or by telephone on 01856 873535. 

Councillor James Stockan   Oliver D Reid  Gareth Waterson, BAcc., CA 
Leader   Chief Executive Corporate Director of 

Enterprise and Sustainable 
Regeneration 
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Statement of Responsibilities for the Annual Accounts 

The Authority’s Responsibilities 
The authority is required to:  

• Make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to secure that the
proper officer of the authority has responsibility for the administration of those affairs (section 95
of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973). In this authority, that officer is the Corporate
Director of Enterprise and Sustainable Regeneration.

• Manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient, and effective use of resources and safeguard its
assets.

• Ensure the Annual Accounts are prepared in accordance with legislation (The Local Authority
Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2014), and so far, as is compatible with that legislation, in
accordance with proper accounting practices (section 12 of the Local Government in Scotland
Act 2003).

• Approve the Annual Accounts for signature.

I can confirm that these annual accounts were approved for signature by the Monitoring and Audit 
Committee at its meeting on 29 November 2023. 

Signed on behalf of Orkney Islands Council. 

Councillor James Stockan 
Leader 
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The Chief Finance Officer’s Responsibilities 
The Corporate Director of Enterprise and Sustainable Regeneration is responsible for the preparation 
of the authority’s Annual Accounts in accordance with proper practices as required by legislation and 
as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom 2022/23 (the Accounting Code). 

In preparing the Annual Accounts, the Chief Finance Officer, has: 

• Selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently

• Made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and prudent

• Complied with legislation

• Complied with the local authority Accounting Code (in so far as it is compatible with legislation).

The Chief Finance Officer has also: 

• Kept adequate accounting records which were up to date
• Taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

I certify that the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the local 
authority and its group at the reporting date and the transactions of the local authority and its group 
for the year ended 31 March 2023. 

Gareth Waterson, BAcc., CA 
Corporate Director of Enterprise 
and Sustainable Regeneration 
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Orkney Islands 
Council and the Accounts Commission
Reporting on the audit of the financial statements 

Opinion on financial statements 

We certify that we have audited the financial statements in the annual accounts of Orkney Islands 
Council and its Group for the year ended 31 March 2023 under Part VII of the Local Government 
(Scotland) Act 1973. The financial statements comprise the Group and Council Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statements, Group and Council Balance Sheets, Group and Council 
Movement in Reserves Statement, Group and Council Cash Flow Statements, the Council Tax 
Income Account, the Non-domestic Rates Income Account, the Housing Revenue Account, the 
Harbour Authority Account, the Orkney College Account and notes to the financial statements, 
including significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in 
their preparation is applicable law and UK adopted international accounting standards, as 
interpreted and adapted by the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom 2022/23 (the 2022/23 Code). 

In our opinion the accompanying financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Council and its Group as at 31 March
2023 and of the income and expenditure of the Council and its Group for the year then
ended;

• have been properly prepared in accordance with UK adopted international accounting
standards, as interpreted and adapted by the 2022/23 Code; and

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Local Government
(Scotland) Act 1973, The Local Authority Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2014, and the
Local Government in Scotland Act 2003.

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing 
(UK) (ISAs (UK)), as required by the Code of Audit Practice approved by the Accounts Commission 
for Scotland. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We were appointed by 
the Accounts Commission on 18 May 2022. Our period of appointment is five years, covering 
2022/23 to 2026/27. We are independent of the Council and its Group in accordance with the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK including the 
Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. Non-audit services prohibited by the Ethical 
Standard were not provided to the Council. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Conclusions relating to going concern basis of accounting 
We have concluded that the use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the 
financial statements is appropriate. 

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to 
events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the ability of the 
Council and its Group to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at 
least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue. 

Independent auditor’
s report 
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These conclusions are not intended to, nor do they, provide assurance on the current or future 
financial sustainability of the Council and its Group. However, we report on the Council’s 
arrangements for financial sustainability in a separate Annual Audit Report available from the Audit 
Scotland website. 

Risks of material misstatement 
We report in our Annual Audit Report the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement 
that we identified and our judgements thereon. 

Responsibilities of the Corporate Director of Enterprise and Sustainable Regeneration and 
Monitoring and Audit Committee for the financial statement 
As explained more fully in the Statement of Responsibilities, the Corporate Director of Enterprise 
and Sustainable Regeneration is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a 
true and fair view in accordance with the financial reporting framework, and for such internal control 
as the Chief Financial Officer determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Corporate Director of Enterprise and Sustainable 
Regeneration is responsible for assessing the ability of the Council and its Group to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless there is an intention to discontinue the operations of the Council 
and its Group. 

The Monitoring and Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the financial reporting process. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design 
procedures in line with our responsibilities outlined above to detect material misstatements in 
respect of irregularities, including fraud. Procedures include: 

• using our understanding of the local government sector to identify that the Local Government
(Scotland) Act 1973, The Local Authority Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2014, and the Local
Government in Scotland Act 2003 are significant in the context of the Council and its Group;

• inquiring of the Corporate Director of Enterprise and Sustainable Regeneration as to other
laws or regulations that may be expected to have a fundamental effect on the operations of the
Council and its Group;

• inquiring of the Corporate Director of Enterprise and Sustainable Regeneration concerning the
policies and procedures of the Council and its Group regarding compliance with the applicable
legal and regulatory framework;

• discussions among our audit team on the susceptibility of the financial statements to material
misstatement, including how fraud might occur; and

• considering whether the audit team collectively has the appropriate competence and
capabilities to identify or recognise non-compliance with laws and regulations.
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The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is affected 
by the inherent difficulty in detecting irregularities, the effectiveness of the Council’s controls, and the 
nature, timing and extent of the audit procedures performed. 

Irregularities that result from fraud are inherently more difficult to detect than irregularities that result 
from error as fraud may involve collusion, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 
of internal control. The capability of the audit to detect fraud and other irregularities depends on 
factors such as the skilfulness of the perpetrator, the frequency and extent of manipulation, the 
degree of collusion involved, the relative size of individual amounts manipulated, and the seniority of 
those individuals involved. 

A further description of the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is 
located on the Financial Reporting Council's website www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This 
description forms part of our auditor’s report. 

Reporting on other requirements 

Opinion prescribed by the Accounts Commission on the audited parts of the Remuneration 
Report 
We have audited the parts of the Remuneration Report described as audited, namely the Senior 
Officers’ Remuneration, Remuneration of Senior Councillors, the Senior Officers’ and Senior 
Councillors’ Pension Entitlement tables, the Councillors’ Remuneration, the Remuneration of 
Officers receiving more than £50,000, and the Exit Packages of Employees disclosures. In our 
opinion, the audited parts of the Remuneration Report have been properly prepared in accordance 
with The Local Authority Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2014. 

Other information 
The Corporate Director of Enterprise and Sustainable Regeneration  is responsible for the other 
information in the annual accounts. The other information comprises the Management Commentary, 
Annual Governance Statement, Statement of Responsibilities and the unaudited parts of the 
Remuneration Report.  

Our responsibility is to read all the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the 
course of the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material 
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives 
rise to a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we 
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon except on the Management Commentary and Annual 
Governance Statement to the extent explicitly stated in the following opinions prescribed by the 
Accounts Commission. 

Opinions prescribed by the Accounts Commission on the Management Commentary and 
Annual Governance Statement 

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit: 

• the information given in the Management Commentary for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements and that report
has been prepared in accordance with statutory guidance issued under the Local Government
in Scotland Act 2003; and

1305



 

27 
 

  

• the information given in the Annual Governance Statement for the financial year for which the 
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements and that report 
has been prepared in accordance with the Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: 
Framework (2016). 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
We are required by the Accounts Commission to report to you if, in our opinion: 

• adequate accounting records have not been kept; or 

• the financial statements and the audited parts of the Remuneration Report are not in 
agreement with the accounting records; or 

• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or 

• there has been a failure to achieve a prescribed financial objective. 

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters. 

Conclusions on wider scope responsibilities 
In addition to our responsibilities for the annual accounts, our conclusions on the wider scope 
responsibilities specified in the Code of Audit Practice, including those in respect of Best Value, are 
set out in our Annual Audit Report. 

Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the parties to whom it is addressed in accordance with Part VII of the 
Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973 and for no other purpose. In accordance with paragraph 108 
of the Code of Audit Practice, we do not undertake to have responsibilities to members or officers, in 
their individual capacities, or to third parties. 

 

Michael Wilkie, (for and on behalf of KPMG LLP), 
319 St Vincent Street 
Glasgow 
G2 5AS 
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Governance Principle A - Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment 
to ethical values, and respecting the rule of law 
The foundation of the Council’s integrity is its culture. The Council’s culture is demonstrated through 
the leadership, behaviour, openness and mutual respect of its Elected Members and Chief Officers. 
It is evidenced by its adoption of a range of robust structures, systems and procedures including: 

• OIC Standing Orders, Scheme of Delegation & Scheme of Administration
• Equality impact assessments
• A Corporate Anti-fraud Policy
• Codes of conduct for Councillors and senior officers
• Elected Members preparation for regular meetings; active participation in decision making;

registering and declaring their interests.

Governance Principle B - Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder 
engagement 
The Council is committed to openness and transparency, with the following strategies and policies in 
place to support this: 

• Open community consultation provides service users with the opportunities to give their views
about their needs and the needs of their communities.

• A Community Consultation and Engagement Policy was approved by the Council in 2019,
which serves to complement the Consultation and Engagement Guide already adopted by the
Council.

• An Annual Performance report, its Annual Accounts and, on behalf of The Orkney Partnership,
an annual report on the Local Outcomes Improvement Plan to communicate the Council’s
activities, achievements, financial position and performance.

• Council committee and sub-committee meetings are held in public and only where there is a
legal requirement to do so will a particular agenda item be considered in private.

• Audio casting of meetings has been implemented to improve access to the Council decision
making process.

• Council Committees, Agendas, Minutes and Reports available on the Council website.
• Staff surveys, recent improvements from the surveys included increasing availability of

learning and development opportunities and increased opportunities to contribute to future
team plans.

• A Communications Strategy in place which provides an overall strategic direction for managing
the Council’s communications activities with a member/officer consultative working group that
continues to assist with reviewing the Strategy.

• Protocols are in place to meet requests made under the Freedom of Information Act, and to
publicise the nature of those requests.

Governance Principle C - Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, 
and environmental benefits 
Orkney Islands Council shares its missions and values with The Orkney Partnership, which maintains 
the Orkney Community Plan, as detailed in the Management Commentary.  

• The Council Plan 2023-2028 sets out the strategic priorities and aims of the incoming
Councillors elected in 2022, and the Council Delivery Plan describes some of the projects,
services and policies which will progress those priorities and achieve tangible outcomes for
Orkney.
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• The Islands (Scotland) Act 2018 (the Act) introduced a statutory requirement for Island 
Communities Impact Assessments (ICIA) under Section 8 of the Act. A relevant authority must 
prepare an island communities impact assessment in relation to a policy, strategy or service 
which, in the authority’s opinion, is likely to have an effect on an island community which is 
significantly different from its effect on other communities (including other island communities) 
in the area in which the authority exercises its functions.  

• Performance Monitoring Reports, with progress on the actions contained within the Delivery 
Plan, are reported to the Council every six months, in accordance with the Council’s 
performance management framework.  

• The Council’s Sustainable Procurement Policy is detailed in the Procurement Strategy and 
Council’s Contract Standing Orders. Before undertaking a Tendering exercise, the Relevant 
Council Officer is required to take into account the social, economic and environmental 
impacts of the proposed Contract and whether the Contract will contribute to the achievement 
of sustainable development in accordance with the Sustainable Procurement Duty.  

Governance Principle D - Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the 
achievement of the intended outcomes 
The Council recognises the financial challenges it faces and ensures that all officers and Elected 
Members are fully aware of the on-going issues that remain as government funding continues to 
reduce in real terms. The following governance arrangements are in place to optimise the 
achievement of the outcomes in the Council Plan. 

• The budget setting process continues to play a pivotal role in supporting progress towards the 
key outcomes. 

• A Medium-Term Financial Strategy has been developed to establish the framework for the 
Council to set a balanced budget over the period 2023-2028. The strategy includes a general 
recognition that either new sources of income will need to be identified, or further consideration 
will have to be given to delivering spending reductions over the medium-to-long term given the 
requirement for continued and significant budget realignment to ensure the sustainable use of 
reserves to balance the budget over the term of the strategy.   

• A Long-Term Financial Plan for the years 2018-2019 to 2029-2030 was approved by the 
Council in February 2019 and addresses the financial sustainability of the Council in the longer 
term in light of the difficult financial climate and continuing economic uncertainty. 

• The Improvement and Performance team support a portfolio of approved projects and facilitate 
the coordination of the Corporate Leadership Team’s (CLT) improvement agenda. This is 
scrutinised through quarterly update reports produced for the CLT and an annual report, which 
is scrutinised by CLT, prior to presentation to Policy and Resources Committee. The focus of 
these reports is around the benefits of the projects and the measurement of outcomes.  

• The Improvement Service has produced a special benchmarking report for Orkney with key 
comparative performance information which is used in the planning process for delivery of 
Council services. 

• Established committee structures, Members Seminars and briefings from the CLT furnish 
Elected Members with an extensive volume of information on both the availability of resources 
and options for future service delivery, enabling informed decisions to be made. 

• Operational Service plans which detail the projects and activities through which the Council 
Plan key strategic priorities are to be actioned. 

• A sustainable procurement policy which demonstrates social value and makes reference to 
modern slavery.  

All of these plans are kept on the Council’s new online performance management system, Pentana 
Risk, with progress Monitoring Reports reported twice a year to Elected Members.  
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Governance Principle E - Developing the Council’s capacity, including the capability 
of its leadership and the individuals within it 
This element of governance is designed to ensure that both Elected Members and officers have the 
knowledge, skills and capacity to enable them to fulfil their respective roles effectively. 

• Elected Members and senior officers are provided with a range of support services to ensure
that they have the necessary knowledge and skills to be fully effective.

• Access to complementary support services provided by the Improvement Service, the Scottish
Government and other agencies.

• Improvement Service notebooks given to Elected Members to guide them on the support
available and how to navigate the Improvement Service website.

• A range of seminars and training events are organised on an on-going basis for Elected
Members to attend.

• Briefing notes are routinely prepared and distributed to provide the Members with up-to-date
information on key strategic and operational issues.

• Induction Programme and information relating to empowering communities for Elected
Members.

• The expansion of the audio casting of meetings.
• The introduction of hybrid meetings allowing Elected Members the opportunity to attend

meetings and training events via Microsoft Teams.
• A Communication Strategy is in place which provides an overall strategic direction for

managing the Council’s communications activities
• A Continuous Professional Development Framework for Elected Members is administered by

the Improvement Service however, participation is voluntary.
• The use of an Employee Review and Development Framework to ensure performance of staff

in a consistent way across all Services, building a culture where everyone should know what
is expected of them and are aware of the competencies and the behaviours required.

• Staff Personal Development Plans are included as part of the Employee Review and
Development Scheme, with the aim to get the best from the Council’s staff and help them
achieve their full potential by identifying training needs and addressing ways of meeting them.

• The Chief Executive has a robust 360-degree annual appraisal and review process which is
facilitated by SOLACE.

• Access to training for employees through professional bodies to which employees belong and
through external training opportunities.

• The development and implementation of an online modular training facility called iLearn, which
staff can access both at work and home.

• The Best Value Assurance Report recognised the stable, effective leadership strongly
focussed on doing what is right for Orkney’s communities.

• A Political Engagement Strategy is in place with the purpose of enhancing and integrating the
Council’s political engagement in respect of its key strategic priorities.

• During 2021-22 the Council launched Our People Our Plan which was split into seven projects
aimed at improving the Council’s leadership and organisational capacity, to energise staff, and
improve confidence across our communities and our stakeholders.

• The People Plan 2022-26 replaces and enhances the previous Human Resource Strategy
and is focussed on supporting Priority Projects 1, 2 and 3 from Our People, Our Plan and the
new Council operating model. It is supported by a Delivery Plan, which outlines key actions
and outcomes to ensure the priorities are met.
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Governance Principle F - Managing risks and performance through robust internal 
control and strong public financial management 
Through its Scheme of Administration and Scheme of Delegation to Officers the Council has the 
following arrangements in place covering risk, performance management, internal control and 
financial management.  

• The system of internal control is based on financial regulations, regular management
information, administrative procedures, management supervision and a scheme of delegation
and accountability.

• A Corporate Risk Register which is reviewed and updated every six months, following
evaluation by the Extended Corporate Leadership Team (ECLT). It is also reported to the
Council every year.

• A risk management policy and strategy, which is reviewed biennially, and is designed to
support the identification, evaluation and mitigation of risks which may impact on its ability to
meet its objectives.

• A policy to combat fraud, theft, bribery and corruption as an integral part of protecting public
finances.

• Participation in the National Fraud Initiative, a data matching programme involving other public
bodies, to provide assurances on the robustness of information held by the Council as well as
highlighting data anomalies that require to be addressed.

• Corporate Services Information Governance Officer guiding and monitoring best practice in
the security of personal data.

• The oversight of risk and financial monitoring is delegated as the responsibility of the Chief
Executive, the Corporate Directors and the Heads of Service, as chief officers.

• The Council has appointed officers to the statutory roles of Chief Finance Officer, Monitoring
Officer, Chief Social Work Officer, Chief Education Officer and Data Protection Officer.

The Chief Finance Officer role, appointed in terms of section 95 of the Local Government 
(Scotland) Act 1973, is held by the Corporate Director of Enterprise and Sustainable 
Regeneration, reporting directly to the Chief Executive. Strong financial management procedures 
are secured through the work of the Chief Finance Officer who:  

• Provides advice to the Council on all financial matters and the effective system of internal
financial control under the terms of the Financial Regulations

• Ensures the timely production and reporting of budget estimates, budget monitoring and
annual accounts.

The Monitoring and Audit Committee provide: 

• Independent assurance on the adequacy of the Council’s Corporate Governance,
performance, risk management and internal control frameworks.

• Further independent assurance of this Committee is achieved by restricting membership -
those ineligibles for membership are the Convener, Council Leader, Depute Leader, and
Chairs of Service committees.

• An Internal Audit Annual Strategy prepared by the Chief Internal Auditor which takes account
of considerations including the Council Risk Register.

Governance Principle G - Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and 
audit to deliver effective accountability 
Information is disseminated in many forms targeted at different audiences for different purposes to 
deliver effective accountability:  

• Council business is conducted through an established cycle of committee meetings held in
public, unless exempt under statutory provision,
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• Principle committee meetings are audio-cast live, with recordings available thereafter for
download from the Council’s public website.

• Agenda and associated reports are issued to the relevant Elected Members and chief officers,
and to the public via the Council’s website.

• Committee reports follow consistency with a corporate style including the purpose of the
report, information relevant to the matter under consideration, a conclusion and
recommendations proposed.

• Minutes of meeting are prepared, and once approved are also publicised on the Council
website.

• Statutory returns that follow prescribed layouts.
• Newsletters which target specific groups.
• Consultation documents which contain basic information designed to prompt initial interest in

particular services and projects.
• The adoption of the Scottish Public Services Ombudsman - Model Complaints Handling

Procedure, with Council Compliments and Complaints reported to the ECLT on a quarterly
basis, Service Committees on a 6-monthly basis and an annual report submitted to Monitoring
and Audit Committee.

• Adoption of the Consultation and Engagement Guidelines issued by the Orkney Partnership,
which includes recommendations on feedback in accordance with national guidelines.

Review of Effectiveness of Governance Arrangements 
In line with best practice the Council is responsible for conducting, at least annually, a review of the 
effectiveness of its governance framework, including the system of internal financial control. This 
annual review is supported by a process of self-assessment against the Local Code of Corporate 
Governance, and is informed by various means: 

• The Council and its committees - monitor governance arrangements throughout the year.
• The Corporate Leadership Team (CLT) - overall responsibility for the development and

maintenance of the governance environment.
• The Extended Corporate Leadership Team – assist the CLT in keeping the governance under

review whilst acting with the wider objectives of the Council in mind to ensure resources are
effectively deployed to achieve local and national outcomes.

• The Corporate Director of Enterprise and Sustainable Regeneration – the Council’s most
senior adviser on all financial matters.

• The Chief Social Worker – required to, in the discharge of the Council’s statutory social work
duties, produce an annual report on all statutory, governance and leadership functions of the
role.

• Internal Audit – a professional and objective internal audit service in accordance with the Local
Authority Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2014. The service conforms to the standards and
practices set out in the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards.

• External Auditors, review bodies, agencies and inspectorates – who come together as a Local
Area Network to determine any scrutiny activity required which feeds into the National Scrutiny
Plan.

The 2022-23 self-assessment of the Council’s Local Code of Corporate Governance was reviewed 
by the CLT on 4 May 2023 and the Council’s degree of compliance with each principle in the Local 
Code was graded in accordance with the CIPFA Framework as “3 – fully compliant with the 
requirement”. 
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Internal Audit and Monitoring and Audit Committee 
The work of managers within the Council, of internal audit as described above and by the external 
auditors in their annual audit letter and in other reports, informs the effectiveness of the financial 
control environment as an element of the Council’s governance arrangements. 
The internal audit plan for financial year 2022-2023 included core financial systems testing, other 
systems operating within services, annual audits, corporate reviews and follow up on a quarterly basis 
of all recommended improvement actions.  
The Chief Internal Auditor provides an annual internal audit opinion based on an objective assessment 
of the framework of governance, risk management and control. It is the opinion of the Chief Internal 
Auditor, on the basis of the audit work performed in 2022-2023, that the Council has a framework of 
controls in place that provides adequate assurance regarding the organisation’s governance 
framework, related internal controls, and the management of key risks. The actions identified during 
the audit work carried out did not impact on the overall governance arrangements of the Council.  
The Chief Internal Auditor confirmed that there were no fraud issues reported to the Council’s external 
auditors in financial year 2022-2023. 
The Monitoring and Audit Committee provides independent assurance on the adequacy of the 
Council’s corporate governance, performance, risk management and internal control frameworks. 
They also oversee financial reporting, the annual governance processes, and the Council’s internal 
and external audit arrangements. 

Integration Joint Board 
The Chief Internal Auditor for Orkney Islands Council (OIC) has been appointed as the Chief Internal 
Auditor for the Orkney Integration Joint Board (IJB) for a period of five years starting from April 2021. 
It has been agreed that Azets, as the internal auditor of NHS Orkney (NHSO), will provide support to 
the IJB Chief Internal Auditor to deliver the Orkney IJB internal audit plan. 

Significant Governance Issues 

Securing good governance has been and remains of prime importance to Elected Members and 
senior officers of the Council; a considerable task at a time when budgets are reducing, services are 
being redesigned, and a range of national and local priorities require to be addressed. 
Each Head of Service has reviewed the arrangements in their Service area and certified their 
effectiveness by providing individual Certificates of Assurance to their Executive Director. The 
Executive Directors have reviewed these submissions, considered the overall arrangements across 
their Directorate, reflected on their effectiveness or otherwise, before submitting their own Certificates 
of Assurance to the Head of Finance. These Certificates of Assurance provide the basis for the Annual 
Governance Statement which was circulated for final endorsement by the CLT before being 
authorised by the Council Leader, the Chief Executive and the Corporate Director of Enterprise and 
Sustainable Regeneration. 
These reviews have identified the governance matters and concerns where actions will be taken 
forward to progress improvement. 
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Capital Slippage 
Slippage on the capital 
programme.  

The Capital Programme 
Board and CLT have kept 
the approved capital 
programme under review 
during 2022/23 and 
slippage has begun to 
reduce. 
 
 

Continue to monitor the spend on 
existing projects within the capital 
programme and ensure that the new 
projects added to the capital programme 
for the next 5 years have realistic 
timelines for delivery, based on the 
available resources. This should continue 
to reduce the level of slippage being 
reported. 

Quarry Service 
Stock Values 
 

 
 

The imported stone was 
added to the stock balance 
sheet at the end of 21/22.  
Since then, it continues to 
be sold to customers on 
request.  Stock is 
decreasing and the amount 
remaining has been 
reflected in the closing 
balance for 22/23. 

A strategy for reducing the stockpile of 
imported stone was developed in 2022 
and the opportunities for implementing 
this have now been considered by the 
Quarry Manager. Stocks will continue to 
reduce as part of the standard 
commercial operation of the quarry.  

Scottish Government Settlement 
The permanent addition 
or baselining of grant 
funding streams into 
the Local Government 
finance settlement by 
Scottish Government to 
support the delivery of 
national initiatives.  

Through Local Government 
Directors of Finance and 
COSLA, lobbying to reduce 
the rigidity of ring-fenced 
funding with/out-with Grant 
Aided Expenditure is on-
going. 

Continued lobbying required to ensure 
Local Government funding is flexible in 
its application to meet needs. 
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Concluding Remarks 

In our respective roles as Leader of the Council and Chief Executive, we are committed to good 
governance and recognise the contribution it makes to securing delivery of service outcomes in an 
effective manner. We have been advised on the results of the annual review of the Local Code of 
Corporate Governance and that the Council’s arrangements continue to be regarded as fit for purpose 
in accordance with the CIPFA governance framework. It is our opinion that reasonable assurance can 
be placed upon the adequacy and effectiveness of the systems of governance operated by the 
Council. This annual governance statement summarises the Council’s current governance 
arrangements and affirms our commitment to ensuring they are regularly reviewed and remain fit for 
purpose. 
While pressure on financial settlements is likely to continue during the coming period, we will continue 
to engage with our partners and the wider community to agree plans and outcome targets that are 
both sustainable and achievable. Good governance will remain essential in delivering services in a 
way that both meets the needs of communities and discharges statutory best value responsibilities. 

Councillor James Stockan Oliver D Reid 
Leader Chief Executive 
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Notes 
Notes to the Core Financial Statements 
Note 1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
The Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2023 have been prepared in accordance with 
proper accounting practice as per section 12 of the Local Government in Scotland Act 2003. Proper 
accounting practice comprises the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom (the Accounting Code), supported by International Financial Reporting Standards and 
recommendations made by the Local Authority (Scotland) Accounts Advisory Committee (LASAAC). 
The Annual Accounts have been prepared on a “going concern” basis. They are designed to give a 
true and fair view of the financial performance and position of the Council and comparative figures for 
the previous financial year are provided. There are no significant departures from these 
recommendations. The following accounting concepts have been considered in the application of 
accounting policies: 

• Going concern - the going concern concept assumes that the Council will continue in existence
for the foreseeable future.

• Relevance – the information in the financial statements is useful for assessing the Council’s
stewardship of public funds and for making economic decisions.

• Materiality - information is included in the financial statements where the information is of such
significance that it could influence the decisions or assessments of users of the information.

• Understandability – users of the financial statements are assumed to have a reasonable
knowledge of accounting and local government.

• Accruals basis - the accruals concept requires the non-cash effects of transactions to be included
in the financial statement for the year in which they occur, not in the period in which payment is
made or income received.

• Reliability – information included in the financial statements faithfully represents the substance
of transactions, is free from bias and material error, is complete within the bounds of materiality
and cost, and has been prudently prepared.

• Primacy of legislative requirements - legislative requirements have priority over accounting
principles in the event of conflict between legislation and the Accounting Code.

The accounts have been prepared under the historic cost convention, other than changes resulting 
from the revaluation of certain categories of non-current assets and financial instruments. The 
following accounting policies used in the preparation of the statements have been reviewed in line 
with changes made to the Accounting Code following the introduction of International Financial 
Reporting Standards. 

Changes in Accounting Practice and Estimates and Errors and Prior Period 
Adjustments 
Changes in accounting policies are made only when required by proper accounting practices or the 
change provides more reliable or relevant information about the effect of transactions, other events 
and conditions on the authority’s financial position or financial performance. A change in accounting 
policy requires a prior period adjustment. 

Changes in accounting estimates are accounted for prospectively i.e.in the current and future years 
affected by the change, and do not give rise to a prior year adjustment. 

Prior period adjustments arise as a result of a change in accounting policies or to correct a material 
error. Material errors discovered in prior period figures are corrected retrospectively by amending 
opening balances and comparative amounts for the prior period. Where a change in accounting policy 
is made, it is applied retrospectively (unless stated otherwise) by adjusting opening balances and 
comparative amounts for the prior period as if the new policy had always been applied. 

N
otes 
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Accruals of Expenditure and Income 
Activity is accounted for in the year that it takes place, not simply when cash payments are made or 
received. In particular: 
• Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the Council transfers the significant risks

and rewards of ownership to the purchaser, and it is probable that the economic benefits or
service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the Council.

• Revenue from the provision of services is recognised when the Council can measure reliably the
percentage of completion of the transaction and it is probable that the economic benefits or
service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the Council.

• Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed. Where there is a gap between
the date supplies are received and their consumption, they are carried as inventories on the
Balance Sheet.

• Expenses in relation to services received (including those rendered by the Authority’s officers)
are recorded as expenditure when the services are received, rather than when payments are
made.

• Interest payable on borrowings and receivable on investments is accounted for on the basis of
the effective interest rate for the relevant financial instrument, rather than on the basis of the
cash flows fixed or determined by the contract.

• Where income and expenditure have been recognised but cash has not been received or paid, a
debtor or creditor for the relevant amount is recorded in the Balance Sheet. Where there is
evidence that debts are unlikely to be settled, the balance of debtors is written down and a
charge made to revenue for the income that might not be collected.

Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable without penalty 
on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in three months 
or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with 
insignificant risk of change in value. 

In the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are 
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Authority’s cash management. 

Charges for the Use of Assets 
Services, support services and trading accounts are debited with the following amounts to record the 
cost of holding fixed assets during the year: 

• depreciation attributable to the assets used by the relevant service
• revaluation and impairment losses on assets used by the service where there are no

accumulated gains in the Revaluation Reserve against which the losses can be written off
• amortisation of intangible fixed assets attributable to the service.

The Authority is not required to raise council tax to cover depreciation, revaluation and impairment 
losses or amortisations. However, it is required to make an annual provision from revenue to 
contribute towards the reduction in its overall borrowing requirement equal to loans fund principal 
charges. Depreciation, revaluation and impairment losses and amortisations are therefore replaced 
by loans fund principal in the General Fund Balance, by way of an adjusting transaction with the 
Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement for the difference between the 
two. 

Charities 
Some of the charities or trust funds controlled by the Council are registered charities. The International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)based Code requires that where a trust fund is a registered 
charity, it should follow the reporting requirements of the Office of the Scottish Charity Regulator and 
should follow the Charities Statement Of Recommended Practice (SORP). The financial statements 
for the Common Good Funds controlled by the Council have been produced in accordance with the 
Code of Practice for Local Government Accounting. 
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Employee Benefits  
Benefits payable during employment 
Short-term employee benefits (those that fall due wholly within 12 months of the year-end), such as 
wages and salaries, paid annual leave and paid sick leave, bonuses and non-monetary benefits (e.g., 
cars) for current employees, are recognised as an expense in the year in which employees render 
service to the Authority. An accrual is made against services in the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision 
of Services for the cost of holiday entitlements and other forms of leave earned by employees but not 
taken before the year-end and which employees can carry forward into the next financial year. The 
accrual is made at the remuneration rates applicable in the following financial year. Any accrual made 
is required under statute to be reversed out of the General Fund Balance by a credit to the 
Accumulating Compensated Absences Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 

Termination benefits 
Termination benefits are amounts payable as a result of a decision by the Council to terminate an 
officer’s employment before the normal retirement date or an officer’s decision to accept voluntary 
redundancy. They are charged on an accruals basis to the Non-Distributed Costs line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement when the Council is demonstrably committed to 
either terminating the employment of an officer or making an offer to encourage voluntary redundancy. 
The Council is only demonstrably committed to a termination when it has a detailed formal plan for 
the termination and it is without realistic possibility of withdrawal. 

Where termination benefits involve the enhancement of pensions, statutory provisions require the 
General Fund balance to be charged with the amount payable by the Council to the pension fund or 
pensioner in the year, not the amount calculated according to the relevant accounting standards. In 
the Movement in Reserves Statement, appropriations are required to and from the Pensions Reserve 
to remove the notional debits and credits for pension enhancement termination benefits and to replace 
them with debits for the cash paid to the pension fund and pensioners and any such amounts payable 
but unpaid at the year-end. 

Post-employment benefits 
The Council participates in two formal pension schemes: The Local Government Pension Scheme 
which is administered by Orkney Islands Council; and the Scottish Teachers' Superannuation 
Scheme. Both schemes provide defined benefits to members. However, the liabilities for the teachers’ 
scheme cannot be identified specifically to the Council, therefore the scheme is accounted for as if it 
were a defined contributions scheme – the Council does not recognise assets or liabilities related to 
the Teachers' Scheme as the liability for payment of pensions rests ultimately with the Scottish 
Government. 

The Local Government Scheme is accounted for as a defined benefits scheme: 

• The liabilities of the Orkney Islands Council pension fund attributable to the Authority are
included in the Balance Sheet on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method – i.e., an
assessment of the future payments that will be made in relation to retirement benefits earned to
date by employees, based on assumptions about mortality rates, employee turnover rates, etc,
and projections of projected earnings for current employees.

• Liabilities are discounted to their value at current prices, using a discount rate of 2.4% based on
the indicative rate of return on high quality corporate bonds.

Statutory provisions require the General Fund Balance to be charged with the amount payable by the 
Authority to the pension fund or directly to pensioners in the year, not the amount calculated according 
to the relevant accounting standards. In the Movement in Reserves Statement, this means that there 
are appropriations to and from the Pensions Reserve to remove the notional debits and credits for 
retirement benefits and replace them with debits for the cash paid to the pension fund and pensioners 
and any such amounts payable but unpaid at the year-end. The negative balance that arises on the 
Pensions Reserve thereby measures the beneficial impact on the General Fund of being required to 
account for retirement benefits on the basis of cash flows rather than as benefits are earned by 
employees. 
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The Notes to the Core Financial Statements provide further information. 

Events after the Balance Sheet date 
Events after the Balance Sheet date are those events, both favourable and unfavourable, that occur 
between the end of the reporting period and the date when the Statements are authorised for issue. 
There are two types of events: 

• Adjusting Event – those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the
reporting period, and the Statements are adjusted to reflect such events

• Non-adjusting events – those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting
period, and the Statements are not adjusted. Where a category of events would have a material
effect, disclosure is made in the notes of the nature of the event and its estimated financial
effect.

Events taking place after the date of authorisation for issue are not reflected in the Statements. 

Financial Instruments 
Financial Assets 
Financial assets are classified based on a classification and measurement approach that reflects the 
business model for holding the financial assets and their cashflow characteristics. There are three 
main classes of financial assets measured at: 

• Amortised Cost
• Fair value through profit or loss (FVPL)
• Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)

The authority’s business model is to hold investments to collect contractual cash flows. Financial 
assets are therefore classified as amortised cost, except those whose contractual payment are not 
solely payment of principal and interest (i.e., where the cash flows do not take the form of a basic debt 
instrument). 

Financial Assets Measured at Amortised Cost 
Loans and receivables are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the authority becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are initially measured at fair value. They are 
then measured at their amortised cost. Annual credits to the Financing and Investment Income and 
Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for interest receivable are 
based on the carrying amount of the asset multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument. 
For most of the loans that the Authority has made, this means that the amount presented in the 
Balance Sheet is the outstanding principal receivable (plus accrued interest) and interest credited to 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is the amount receivable for the year in the 
loan agreement. 

However, the Authority has made a number of loans to business and voluntary organisations at less 
than market rates (soft loans). When soft loans are made, a loss is recorded in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement (debited to the appropriate service) for the present value of the 
interest that will be foregone over the life of the instrument, resulting in a lower amortised cost than 
the outstanding principal. Interest is credited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure 
line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement at a marginally higher effective rate of 
interest than the rate receivable from the business and voluntary organisations, with the difference 
serving to increase the amortised cost of the loan in the Balance Sheet. Statutory provisions require 
that the impact of soft loans on the General Fund Balance is the interest receivable for the financial 
year – the reconciliation of amounts debited and credited to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement to the net gain required against the General Fund Balance is managed by a 
transfer to or from the Financial Instruments Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement. 
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Any gains and losses that arise on the de-recognition of an asset are credited/debited to the Financing 
and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement. 

Financial Assets at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income  

Financial assets will be recognised at fair value through other comprehensive income classification if 
the following conditions are met: 

• The entity’s business model is to hold the financial asset to obtain benefits by collecting the 
contractual cash flows associated with the financial asset and selling the financial asst. 

• The contractual cashflows arising from the financial asset are solely payments of principal and 
interest. 

 
The Authority can also opt to classify any investment in equity instruments not held for trading 
purposes as a financial asset at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income.   

Expected Credit Loss Model 
The authority recognises expected credit losses on all of its financial assets held at amortised cost or 
FVOCI, either on a 12-month or lifetime basis. The authority has adopted the simplified approach for 
the expected credit loss model which applies to lease receivables and contract assets. Only lifetime 
losses are recognised for trade receivables (debtors) held by the authority. 

Impairment losses are calculated to reflect the expectation that the future cash flows might not take 
place because the borrower could default on their obligations. Credit risk plays a crucial part in 
assessing losses. Where risk has increased significantly since an instrument was initially recognised, 
losses are assessed on a lifetime basis. Where risk has not increased significantly or remains low, 
losses are assessed on the basis of 12-month expected losses. 

The authority has used reasonable and supportable information available to support the measurement 
of lifetime expected losses on an individual instrument basis. It has therefore assessed losses for the 
portfolio on a collective basis. 

The Authority has grouped the loans into two groups for assessing loss allowances: 

• Group 1 – these loans were made to local businesses as part of a Council initiative to provide 
economic development on the basis that systems were put in place to measure and monitor the 
risk of default for each of the businesses that was provided with a loan. Loss allowances for 
these loans can be assessed on an individual basis. 

• Group 2 – for the residual group of loans, including self-build housing loans, the Authority relies 
on past due information and calculates losses based on lifetime credit losses for all loans more 
than 30 days past due. 

Financial Assets Measured at Fair Value through Profit or Loss  
Financial assets that are measured at FVPL are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the Authority 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are initially measured and 
carried at fair value. Fair value gains and losses are recognised as they arrive in the Surplus or Deficit 
on the Provision of Services. 

The fair value measurements of the financial assets are based on the following techniques: 

• instruments with quoted market prices – the market price. 
• other instruments with fixed and determinable payments – discounted cash flow analysis. 

All movements in the fair value are recognised in full through the Income and Expenditure Statement. 

The inputs to the measurement techniques are categorised in accordance with the following three 
levels: 
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• Level 1 inputs – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets that the
authority can access at the measurement date.

• Level 2 inputs – inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for
the asset, either directly or indirectly.

• Level 3 inputs – unobservable inputs for the asset.

Any gains and losses that arise on the derecognition of the asset are credited or debited to the 
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement. 

Financial Liabilities 
Financial liabilities are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the Council becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of a financial instrument and initially measured at fair value and carried at their 
amortised cost. Annual charges to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for interest payable are based on the carrying 
amount of the liability, multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument. The effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments over the life of the 
instrument to the amount at which it was originally recognised. For most of the borrowings that the 
Council has, this means that the amount presented in the Balance Sheet is the outstanding principal 
repayable (plus accrued interest) and interest charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement is the amount payable for the year according to the loan agreement. 
Where premiums and discounts have been charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement, regulations allow the impact on the General Fund Balance to be spread over future years. 
The Council has a policy of spreading the gain/loss over the term that was remaining on the loan 
against which the premium was payable or discount receivable when it was repaid. The reconciliation 
of amounts charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement to the net charge 
required against the General Fund Balance is managed by a transfer to or from the Financial 
Instruments Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 

Loans Fund 
Under the Local Authority (Capital Finance and Accounting) (Scotland) Regulation 2016, the Council 
operates a statutory Loans Fund which is administered with the 2016 Regulations, proper accounting 
practices and prudent financial management. 
  All loans raised are paid into the Fund and advances are made to Services to finance capital 
expenditure during the year. 
 Repayments to the Loans Fund are calculated on a prudential basis using the asset life method 
where the annual repayments of principal are calculated as equal instalments based on the initial life 
and value of the asset.  
Interest on the Loans Fund advances has been calculated and allocated to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement.  

Foreign Currency Translation 
Where the Authority has entered into a transaction denominated in a foreign currency, the transaction 
is converted into sterling at the exchange rate applicable on the date the transaction was effective. 
Where amounts in foreign currency are outstanding at the year-end, they are reconverted at the spot 
exchange rate at 31 March. Resulting gains or losses are recognised in the Financing and Investment 
Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

Government Grants and other Contributions 
Whether paid on account, by instalments or in arrears, government grants and third-party 
contributions and donations are recognised as due to the Council when there is reasonable assurance 
that: 
• the Council will comply with the conditions attached to the payments, and
• the grants or contributions will be received.

1336



58 

Amounts recognised as due to the Council are not credited to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement until conditions attaching to the grant or contribution have been satisfied. 
Conditions are stipulations that specify that the future economic benefits or service potential embodied 
in the asset acquired using the grant or contribution are required to be consumed by the recipient as 
specified or future economic benefits or service potential must be returned to the transferor. 
Monies advanced as grants and contributions for which conditions have not been satisfied are carried 
in the Balance Sheet as creditors. When conditions are satisfied, the grant or contribution is credited 
to the relevant service line (attributable revenue grants/contributions) or Taxation and Non-Specific 
Grant Income (non-ring-fenced revenue grants and all capital grants) in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement. Where capital grants are credited to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement, they are reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in 
Reserves Statement. Where the grant has yet to be used to finance capital expenditure, it is posted 
to the Capital Grants Unapplied Account. Where it has been applied, it is posted to the Capital 
Adjustment Account. Amounts in the Capital Grants Unapplied Account are transferred to the Capital 
Adjustment Account once they have been applied. 

Intangible Assets 
Expenditure on non-monetary assets that do not have physical substance but are controlled by the 
Council as a result of past events (e.g., software licences) is capitalised when it is expected that future 
economic benefits or service potential will flow from the intangible asset to the Council. 
Intangible assets are measured initially at cost. Amounts are not revalued, as the fair value of the 
assets held by the Council cannot be determined by reference to an active market. The depreciable 
amount of an intangible asset is amortised over its useful life to the relevant service line(s) in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Where expenditure on intangible assets 
qualifies as capital expenditure for statutory purposes, amortisation, impairment losses and disposal 
gains and losses are not permitted to have an impact on the General Fund Balance. The gains and 
losses are therefore reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement and posted to the Capital Adjustment Account and the Capital Receipts Reserve. 

Interests in Companies and Other Entities 
The Authority has material interests in companies and other entities that have the nature of 
subsidiaries and associates and require it to prepare group accounts. In the Authority’s own single-
entity accounts, the interests in companies and other entities are recorded as financial assets at cost, 
less any provision for losses, or available-for-sale financial assets (i.e., at fair value). 

Inventories 
Inventories (generally consumable stock) are included in the Balance Sheet at the lower of cost and 
net realisable value. 

Investment Property 
Investment properties are those that are used solely to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation. 
The definition is not met if the property is used in any way to facilitate the delivery of services or 
production of goods or is held for sale. 

Investment properties are measured initially at cost and subsequently at fair value, based on the 
amount at which the asset could be exchanged between knowledgeable parties at arm’s length. 
Properties are not depreciated but are revalued annually according to market conditions at the year-
end. Gains and losses on revaluation are posted to the Financing and Investment Income and 
Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The same treatment is 
applied to gains and losses on disposal. 

Rentals received in relation to investment properties are credited to the Financing and Investment 
Income line and result in a gain for the General Fund Balance. However, revaluation and disposal 
gains and losses are not permitted by statutory arrangements to have an impact on the Balance. The 
gains and losses are therefore reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in 
Reserves Statement and posted to the Capital Adjustment Account. 
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Leases 
Leases are classified as finance leases where the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks 
and rewards incidental to ownership of the property from the lessee to the lessor. All other leases are 
classified as operating leases. Where a lease covers both land and buildings, the land and buildings 
elements are considered separately for classification. Arrangements that do not have the legal status 
of a lease but convey a right to use an asset in return for payment are accounted for under this policy 
where fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of specific assets. 

Operating Leases (Council as lessor) 
Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement as an expense of the services benefiting from use of the leased property, plant or 
equipment. Charges are made on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease, even if this does not 
match the pattern of payments (e.g., there is a rent-free period at the commencement of the lease). 

Operating Leases (Council as lessee) 
Where the Council grants an operating lease over a property or an item of plant or equipment, the 
asset is retained in the Balance Sheet. Rental income is credited to the Other Operating Expenditure 
line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Credits are made on a straight-line 
basis over the life of the lease, even if this does not match the pattern of payments (e.g., there is a 
premium paid at the commencement of the lease). Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and 
arranging the lease are added to the carrying amount of the relevant asset and charged as an expense 
over the lease term on the same basis as rental income. 

Overheads and Central Support Costs 
The costs of overheads and support services are charged to service segments in accordance with 
the Council’s arrangements for accountability and financial performance. The total absorption costing 
principle is used – the full cost of overheads and support services are shared between users in 
proportion to the benefits received, except for: 

• Corporate and Democratic Core – costs relating to the Authority’s status as a multi-functional,
democratic organisation.

• Non-Distributed Costs – the cost of discretionary benefits awarded to employees retiring early
and any depreciation and impairment losses chargeable on surplus assets in Property, Plant
and Equipment.

These two cost categories are accounted for as separate headings in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement, as part of Net Expenditure on Continuing Services. 

Property, Plant and Equipment 
Assets that have physical substance and are held for use in the production or supply of goods or 
services, for rental to others or for administrative purposes and that are expected to be used during 
more than one financial year are classified as Property, Plant and Equipment. 

Recognition 
Expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of Property, Plant and Equipment is 
capitalised on an accruals basis, provided that it is probable that the future economic benefits or 
service potential associated with the item will flow to the Council and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably. Expenditure that maintains but does not add to an asset’s potential to deliver future 
economic benefits or service potential (i.e., repairs and maintenance) is charged as an expense when 
it is incurred. 
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Measurement 
Assets are initially measured at cost, comprising: 

• the purchase price.
• any costs attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be

capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
The cost of assets acquired other than by purchase is deemed to be its fair value, unless the 
acquisition will not increase the cash flows of the Council. In the latter case, the cost of the acquisition 
is the carrying amount of the asset given up by the Council. The valuation of work-in-progress is based 
on cost plus an appropriate proportion of overheads, together with attributable profits and allowances 
for foreseeable losses. 

Plant, furniture and computer equipment costing less than £10,000 are not treated as fixed assets but 
are charged to the revenue account. This de minimis level does not apply where certain categories of 
these assets are grouped together and form part of the approved capital programme. 

Donated assets are measured initially at fair value. The difference between fair value and any 
consideration paid is credited to the Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income line of the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, unless the donation has been made 
conditionally. Until conditions are satisfied, the gain is held in the Donated Assets Account. Where 
gains are credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, they are reversed out 
of the General Fund Balance to the Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement. 

Assets are then carried in the Balance Sheet using the following measurement bases: 

• infrastructure, community assets and assets under construction – depreciated historical cost.
• council dwellings – fair value, determined using the Beacon Principle of valuation which reduces

the open market value (OMV) of a property by a percentage factor based on existing use value
for social housing (EUV-SH).

• all other assets – fair value, determined as the amount that would be paid for the asset in its
existing use (existing use value – EUV). Operational assets are shown at the lower of net
current replacement cost or net realisable value in existing use. Non-operational assets are
shown at the lower of net current replacement cost or net realisable value.

• heritage assets – premium market valuation.

Where there is no market-based evidence of fair value because of the specialist nature of an asset, 
depreciated replacement cost is used as an estimate of fair value. 
Assets included in the Balance Sheet at fair value are revalued sufficiently regularly to ensure that 
their carrying amount is not materially different from their fair value at the year-end, but as a minimum 
every five years. Valuations are undertaken by Robert Eunson, Assessor to the Orkney and Shetland 
Valuation Joint Board, who is MRICS qualified. Increases in valuations are matched by credits to the 
Revaluation Reserve to recognise unrealised gains. 

Where decreases in value are identified, the revaluation loss is accounted for as follows: 

• where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve, the
carrying amount of the asset is written down against that balance (up to the amount of the
accumulated gains).

• where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or insufficient balance, the carrying
amount of the asset is written down against the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement.

The Revaluation Reserve contains revaluation gains recognised since 1 April 2007 only, the date of 
its formal implementation. Gains arising before that date have been consolidated into the Capital 
Adjustment Account. 
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Fair Value Measurement 
The authority measures some of its non-financial assets such as surplus assets and investment 
properties and some of its financial instruments such as equity shareholdings at fair value at each 
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement assumes that the 
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either: 

• in the principal market for the asset or liability, or
• in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The authority measures the fair value of an asset or liability using the assumptions that market 
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming market assumptions act in their 
economic best interest. 

Impairment 
Assets are assessed at each year-end as to whether there is any indication that an asset may be 
impaired. Where indications exist, and any possible differences are estimated to be material, the 
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated and, where this is less than the carrying amount of the 
asset, an impairment loss is recognised for the shortfall. 

Disposals 
When it becomes probable that the carrying amount of an asset will be recovered principally through 
a sale transaction rather than through its continuing use, it is reclassified as an Asset Held for Sale. 
The asset is revalued immediately before reclassification and then carried at the lower of this amount 
and fair value less costs to sell. Where there is a subsequent decrease to fair value less costs to sell, 
the loss is posted to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement. Gains in fair value are recognised only up to the amount of any previous 
losses recognised in the Surplus or Deficit on Provision of Services. Depreciation is not charged on 
Assets Held for Sale. Assets that are to be abandoned or scrapped are not reclassified as Assets 
Held for Sale. 

When an asset is disposed of or decommissioned, the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance 
Sheet (whether Property, Plant and Equipment or Assets Held for Sale) is written off to the Other 
Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as part of the 
gain or loss on disposal. Receipts from disposals (if any) are credited to the same line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement also as part of the gain or loss on disposal (i.e., 
netted off against the carrying value of the asset at the time of disposal). Any revaluation gains 
accumulated for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve are transferred to the Capital Adjustment 
Account. 

Depreciation 
Depreciation is provided for on all Property, Plant and Equipment assets by the systematic allocation 
of their depreciable amounts over their useful lives. An exception is made for assets without a 
determinable finite useful life (i.e., freehold land and certain Community Assets), investment 
properties and assets that are not yet available for use (i.e., assets under construction). 

Depreciation is charged in full in the year of acquisition and no charge made in the year of disposal. 
Depreciation is calculated on the following bases: 

• dwellings and other buildings – straight-line allocation over 10 years up to 100 years as
estimated by the Council Valuer.

• vehicles, plant and equipment – straight-line allocation over 3 years up to 30 years.
• infrastructure – straight-line allocation over 40 years up to 80 years, with a few exceptions for

longer lifespans in respect of stone-built piers.

General Fund services are charged with depreciation where appropriate for the use of assets no 
matter how they are financed. 
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Where a Property, Plant and Equipment asset has major components whose cost is significant in 
relation to the total cost of the item, the components are depreciated separately. Significance is 
determined by comparing a component’s cost against the overall cost of an asset, and a component 
is deemed significant if its cost is 10% or more of the total asset cost. The de-minimis threshold for 
componentisation is £0.500M. 

Revaluation gains are also depreciated, with an amount equal to the difference between current value 
depreciation charged on assets and the depreciation that would have been chargeable based on their 
historical cost being transferred each year from the Revaluation Reserve to the Capital Adjustment 
Account. 

Heritage Assets 
The Council’s Heritage Assets are assets that are held by the Council principally for their contribution 
to knowledge and/or culture. They are recognised and measured, including treatment of revaluation 
gains and losses, in accordance with the Council’s policies on Property, Plant and Equipment. 

There is no depreciation charged on the Heritage Assets because it has been estimated that the 
assets have a useful life of such length that any depreciation charge on the asset will be negligible 
and can be ignored on the basis of materiality. The Council considers that the Heritage Assets held 
by the Council will have indeterminate lives and a high residual value; hence the Council does not 
consider it appropriate to charge depreciation for the assets. There will therefore be no change to the 
depreciation charged in the financial statements in relation to the Council’s Heritage Assets. 

Provisions, Contingent Liabilities & Contingent Assets 
Provisions are made where an event has taken place that gives the Council a legal or constructive 
obligation that probably requires settlement by a transfer of economic benefits or service potential, 
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are charged as an 
expense to the appropriate service line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in 
the year that the Council becomes aware of the obligation and measured at the best estimate at the 
balance sheet date of the expenditure required to settle the obligation, taking into account relevant 
risks and uncertainties. 

When payments are eventually made, they are charged to the provision carried in the Balance Sheet. 
Estimated settlements are reviewed at the end of each financial year – where it becomes less than 
probable that a transfer of economic benefits will now be required (or a lower settlement than 
anticipated is made), the provision is reversed and credited back to the relevant service. Where some 
or all of the payment required to settle a provision is expected to be recovered from another party 
(e.g., from an insurance claim), this is only recognised as income for the relevant service if it is virtually 
certain that reimbursement will be received if the Council settles the obligation. 

The Council has made provision, based on past experience, for the loss of local taxation income 
arising from bad and doubtful debts, with all debts over two years old being fully provided for. Provision 
has also been made for bad and doubtful debts for all other items of income. 

Contingent Liabilities 
A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place that gives the authority a possible 
obligation whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future 
events not wholly within the control of the authority. Contingent liabilities also arise in circumstances 
where a provision would otherwise be made but either it is not probable that an outflow of resources 
will be required, or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured reliably. 

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the accounts. 
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Contingent Assets 
A contingent asset arises where an event has taken place that gives the authority a possible asset 
whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future events not 
wholly within the control of the authority. 

Contingent assets are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the accounts 
where it is probable that there will be an inflow of economic benefits or service potential. 

Reserves 
Reserves are created by appropriating amounts out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in 
Reserves Statement. When expenditure to be financed from a reserve is incurred, it is charged to the 
appropriate service in that year to score against the Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The reserve is then appropriated back into the 
General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement so that there is no net charge against 
council tax for the expenditure. The level of reserves held are subject to an annual review as part of 
the budget setting process. 

Certain reserves are kept to manage the accounting processes for non-current assets, financial 
instruments and retirement benefits and that do not represent usable resources for the Authority – 
these reserves are explained in the relevant policies below. 

The two capital reserves arising from the system of capital accounting are the Revaluation Reserve 
and the Capital Adjustment Account. The former of these represents the store of gains on revaluation 
of fixed assets not yet realised through sales and the latter relates to amounts set aside from capital 
resources to meet past expenditure. 

The Financial Instruments Adjustment Account is a balancing account to allow for differences in 
statutory requirements and proper accounting practices for lending and borrowing by the Council, i.e., 
the restatement of “financial instruments” to “fair value”. 

The Pension Reserve arises from the IAS19 accounting disclosures for retirement benefits and 
recognises the Council's share of actuarial gains and losses in the Orkney Islands Council Pension 
Fund and the change in the Council’s share of the Pension Fund net liability chargeable to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statute 
Expenditure incurred during the year that may be capitalised under statutory provisions but does not 
result in the creation of a non-current asset has been charged as expenditure to the relevant service 
in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the year. Where the Council has 
determined to meet the cost of this expenditure from existing capital resources or by borrowing, a 
transfer in the Movement in Reserves Statement from the General Fund Balance to the Capital 
Adjustment Account then reverses out the amounts charged so that there is no impact on the level of 
council tax. 

VAT 
VAT payable is included as an expense only to the extent that it is not recoverable from Her Majesty’s 
Revenue and Customs. VAT receivable is excluded from income. 
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Note 2 Accounting Standards Issued but not yet adopted 
The Code requires the disclosure of information relating to the impact of an accounting change that 
will be required by a new standard that has been issued but not yet adopted. The Code required 
implementation from 1 April 2023, therefore there is no impact on the 2022-23 financial 
statements.  This applies to the adoption of the following new or amended standards within the 2022-
2023 Code: 

• Definition of Accounting Estimates (Amendments to IAS 8) issued in February 2021.  The
amendments aim to improve accounting policy disclosures and to help users of the financial
statements to distinguish between changes in accounting estimates and changes in accounting
policies.

• Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to IAS 1) issued in February 2021. This requires
organisations to disclose their material accounting policy information rather than their significant
accounting policies.

• Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction (Amendments to
IAS 12) issued in May 2021.  The main change is an exemption from the initial recognition
exemption.

The implementation of IFRS 16 for Lease Accounting which should have been adopted with effect 
from 1 April 2022 has now been deferred until 1 April 2024 with local authorities having the option to 
adopt earlier if they decide to do so. This standard replaces IAS 17 and removes the operating 
classification for leases, eliminating the ability for organisations to keep operating leases off balance 
sheet, by reporting them as a note to the accounts. With the new standard all leases will be considered 
finance leases unless they meet the specific exception criteria. The Council has opted to defer 
implementation until 1 April 2024. 

Note 3 Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies 
In applying accounting policies, the Council has had to make certain judgements about complex 
transactions or those involving uncertainty about future events. The critical judgements made in the 
Statement of Accounts are: 

Public Sector Funding: There is a high degree of uncertainty about future funding levels for local 
government. However, the Council has determined that this uncertainty is not yet sufficient to provide 
an indication that the assets of the Council might be impaired as a result of a need to close facilities 
and reduce levels of service provision. 

Asset Valuations: The Council’s appointed valuer of property assets carries out regular reviews of the 
value of assets reported in the Balance Sheet and any significant changes in value are processed as 
asset revaluations or impairments. These values are based on their professional opinion using 
available market information at the time of assessment. There is no indication that the Council’s 
investment properties have suffered a material valuation uncertainty or impact as a result of the recent 
market conditions and as a result, rental levels and renewals appear to have been unaffected to any 
material degree, allowing for normal vacancy rates at any given time. 
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Adjustments for Capital Purposes 

Note 1. Adjustments for Capital Purposes adds in depreciation and impairment and revaluation gains 
and losses in the services line, and for: 

• Other operating expenditure - adjusts for capital disposals with a transfer of income on disposal
of assets and the amounts written off for those assets.

• Financing and investment income and expenditure - the statutory charges for capital financing
and other revenue contributions are deducted from other income and expenditure as these are
not chargeable under generally accepted accounting practices.

• Taxation and non-specific grant income and expenditure - capital grants are adjusted for income
not chargeable under generally accepted accounting practices. Revenue grants are adjusted
from those receivable in the year, to those receivable without conditions, or for which conditions
were satisfied throughout the year. The Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income and
Expenditure line is credited with capital grants receivable in the year without conditions or for
conditions which were satisfied in the year.

Net Change for the Pensions Adjustment 

Note 2. Net change for the removal of pension contributions and the addition of IAS19 Employee 
Benefits pension related expenditure and income: 

• For services this represents the removal of the employer pension contributions made by the
authority as allowed by statute and the replacement with current service costs and past service
costs.

• For Financing and investment income and expenditure – the net interest on the defined benefit
liability is charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

Other Differences 

Note 3. Other differences between the amounts debited/credited to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement and amounts payable/receivable to be recognised under statute: 

• For services this represents the removal of the increase or decrease in the employee statutory
adjustment account.

• For services this includes reclassification of costs as other income and expenditure.
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Note 32 Pension Schemes Accounted as Defined Contribution Schemes 
There are currently two occupational pension schemes for teachers in Scotland, the Scottish Teachers' 
Superannuation Scheme (STSS) and the Scottish Teachers’ Pension Scheme 2015 (STPS 2015). 
These schemes are administered by the Scottish Public Pensions Agency on behalf of Scottish 
Ministers.  Both are defined benefit schemes, but, as it is not possible to identify each participating 
Council’s share of the underlying liabilities on a consistent and reasonable basis both schemes are 
accounted for as if they were defined contribution schemes. Employer contributions are set on the 
basis of periodic reviews by the Government Actuary. The Council’s rate of contribution as an 
employer increased to 23% from 17.2% on 1 September 2019. The employee rate is tiered and ranges 
from 7.2% to 11.9%. The Council paid £3.665M (£3.345M in 2021-22) of employer contributions to the 
Scottish Public Pensions Agency during 2022-23. £0.258M of expenditure (£0.271M in 2021-22) was 
charged to service revenue accounts during 2022-23 in respect of “added years” pension 
enhancement termination benefits, representing 1.62% of employees’ pensionable pay (1.86% in 
2021-22). 

Note 33 Defined Benefit Pension Schemes 
Participation in pension schemes 
As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its employees, the Council makes contributions 
towards the cost of post-employment benefits. Although these benefits are not actually payable until 
employees retire, the Council has a commitment to make the payments, and this commitment needs 
to be disclosed at the time that employees earn their future entitlement. 
The Council participates in two pension schemes: 

• The Local Government Pension Scheme, administered locally by Orkney Islands Council - this
is a funded defined benefit scheme, meaning that the Authority and employees pay contributions
into a fund, calculated at a level intended to balance the pension’s liabilities with investment
assets.

• Arrangements for the award of discretionary post-retirement benefits upon early retirement - this
is an unfunded defined benefit arrangement, under which liabilities are recognised when awards
are made. However, there are no investment assets built up to meet these liabilities, and cash
has to be generated to meet actual pension payments as they eventually fall due.

The principal risks to the Authority of the scheme are the longevity assumptions, statutory changes to 
the scheme, structural changes to the scheme (i.e., large-scale withdrawals from the scheme), 
changes to inflation, bond yields and the performance of the equity investments held by the scheme. 
These are mitigated to a certain extent by the statutory requirements to charge to the General Fund 
and Housing Revenue Account the amounts required by statute as described in the accounting policies 
note. 

Transactions relating to post-employment benefits 
The Council recognises the cost of retirement benefits in the reported cost of service when they are 
earned by employees, rather than when the benefits are eventually paid as pensions. 
However, the charge the Council is required to make against Council Tax is based on the cash payable 
in the year, so the real cost of post-employment/retirement benefits is reversed out of the General 
Fund via the Movement on Reserves Statement. The following transactions have been made in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and the General Fund balance via the Movement 
in Reserves Statement during the year: 
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Note 34 Contingent Liabilities 
Contingent liabilities are possible obligations that arise from past events whose existence will only be 
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events. 

Former Landfill and Quarry Sites Re-instatement 
The Council is responsible under environmental and planning legislation for the ongoing monitoring, 
and if required maintenance and reinstatement of current and former landfill and quarry sites. The 
Quarries Working Group meets on a regular basis to discuss the former landfill and quarry sites, with 
a view to making decisions on how best to proceed with maintenance, reinstatement or disposal. The 
working group is made up of officers from Neighbourhood Services, Planning and Community 
Services, Property Asset Management and Facilities and Finance. 
As at 31 March 2023, no financial provision has been made however the Council recognises that a 
contingent liability in respect of future reinstatement of current and former landfill and quarry sites 
operated by the Council may arise as a result of this work however the timing of liabilities in respect of 
current and former landfill and quarry sites is uncertain and the associated costs cannot be reliably 
estimated at this time. 

Grant Funding Conditions 
The Council receives grant income from a number of external agencies and public bodies in support 
of the delivery of a range of projects being undertaken. The standard conditions for grants received 
apply for a number of years after the end of the financial year in which the final instalment of the grant 
is paid. This means that the funding body, as the Grantor, can reclaim grant payments should the 
standard conditions of the grant be breached during this period. 

Merchant Navy Officers Pension Fund (MNOPF) 
The MNOPF is closed to new members and closed to future accrual from 31 March 2016 when 
contributing members were transferred to the Ensign Retirement Plan (for the MNOPF). The MNOPF 
is a multiple employer scheme, and the Council is unable to identify its share of the underlying assets 
and liabilities. As at the last full valuation in 2021 the Fund had a surplus of £58M which was an 
improvement from the 2018 deficit position of £73M. The Trustees of the Fund may in future request 
deficit contributions depending on the results of future actuarial valuations of the Fund as at 31 March 
2024. 
The Trustee must carry out a full actuarial valuation at least every three years to assess the 
scheme’s funding level. The next MNOPF Actuarial Valuation will refer to the three-year period 
ending 31 March 2024. 
In the intervening years the Trustee will obtain annual actuarial reports on developments affecting 
the Fund’s assets and technical provisions. 

Orkney Islands Council Pension Fund 
Following recent legal judgements, the funding valuation position as at 31 March 2021 include an 
allowance for full Guaranteed Minimum Pension equalisation (indexation) treatment. A further ruling 
on Guaranteed Minimum Pension historical transfers is unlikely to be significant in terms of impact on 
the pension obligations. An allowance for the estimated impact of the McCloud judgement is also 
included within the funding valuation positions noted above. Whilst there is still uncertainty surrounding 
the potential remedy to the Goodwin judgement the approximate impact is likely to be minimal, 
therefore there has been no adjustment applied to the valuation. 
The results of the 2017 cost cap were finalised in 2021-22 and suggest no changes to employer 
contribution rates recently certified and put in place by the LGPS administering authority from 1 April 
2021. 

National Care Service 
Following recent legal judgements, Scottish Ministers will be allowed to transfer social care 
responsibility from local authorities to a new, national service. This could include adult and children’s 
services, as well as areas such as justice social work. The Council recognises that, should any 
transfers occur, a change in funding valuation in respect of current and future sites operated by the 
Council will arise as a result, however the timing of any transfer is unknown and the impact on funding 
valuations cannot be reliably estimated at this time. 
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2. The amount of rent arrears
At 31 March 2023 total rent arrears amounted to £0.562M (£0.586M at 31 March 2022). This is 13.62% 
of the total value of rental income at 31 March 2023. 

3. The provision considered to be necessary in respect of uncollectable rent arrears
In the financial year 2022-23 the rental bad debt provision has increased by £0.010M (£0.014M 
increase during 2021-22). The provision to cover the potential loss of income stands at £0.183M at 31 
March 2023. This is 4.42% of the total value of rents at that date. 

4. The total value of uncollectable void rents
The total value of uncollectable void rents for Council dwellings that were not let during the year was 
£0.054M (£0.054M during 2021-22). 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the Year Ended 31 March 2023 
The notes required for the accounts of Orkney Islands Council itself are disclosed separately in the 
preceding pages. The following notes provide material additional amounts and details in relation to 
the other combining entities. The accounting regulations require specific disclosures about the 
combining entities and the nature of their business. 

1. Disclosure of Differences with Main Statement of Accounting Policies
The financial statements in the Group Accounts of Orkney Islands Council are prepared in accordance
with the accounting policies set out in the Council’s Financial Statement Notes section with the
additions and exceptions shown in the following section.

Group Income and Expenditure Statement 
Retirement Benefits 
In common with Orkney Islands Council, the subsidiaries participate in the Council's Pension Scheme. 
This is explained within the Council’s Financial Statements Notes 32 and 33. The subsidiaries have 
accounting policies for pensions accounting that are consistent with those of the Council. 

Value Added Tax 
VAT paid by the Pickaquoy Centre Trust is accounted for within "net cost of service" to the extent that 
it is irrecoverable from H.M. Revenue and Customs. 

Proceeds from Disposals of Fixed Assets 
Profits and losses on the disposal of non-current assets are credited or debited to the Group Income 
& Expenditure Statement in a separate line. In the case of proceeds for the Council's assets, these 
are taken to the Usable Capital Receipts Reserve. Amounts in respect of Council assets are 
appropriated to the Capital Adjustment Account. For the share of proceeds for associates, these are 
taken instead to the Group.  

Group Balance Sheet 
Valuation of Fixed Assets 
The basis of valuation across the combining entities is in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS).  Operational assets are shown at the lower of net replacement cost or 
net realisable value in existing use. There are no material inconsistencies with the policies adopted 
by Orkney Islands Council 

Stock 
Stock is valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value. The difference in valuation methods does 
not have a material effect on the Group given the levels of stockholdings. 

2. Combining Entities
The Subsidiaries have been consolidated on a line-by-line basis. To permit consolidation, the Profit
and Loss Accounts of the subsidiary entities have been presented in accordance with the Code of
Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom. The following section provides some
additional information on the relationship between the Council and each subsidiary. The Council
would ensure an orderly winding up of each subsidiary should the businesses cease.
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Orkney Towage Company Limited 
Orkney Towage Company Ltd was incorporated in 1976 to operate tugs within Scapa Flow Oil Port 
and around the Orkney Islands. The Council had a controlling interest in the company, and it has 
therefore historically been included in the group accounts as a subsidiary. 

In 2016 the Council approved the integration of Orkney Towage Company Limited into the Council. 
The tangible assets and staff were transferred to the Council by 1 April 2018 with towage operations 
now being undertaken by the Council. 

A Flexible Apportionment Arrangement for Orkney Towage Company Ltd was concluded with the 
MNOPF in December 2021 with the Council now standing in place of the company in respect of any 
future pension liability to the MNOPF. A final dividend of £7,018.96 was paid to the Council by 
Orkney Towage Company Limited in January 2022 and an application for striking off was accepted 
by Companies House on 1 February 2022. The company was dissolved on 26 April 2022. 

Orkney Ferries Limited 
Orkney Ferries Ltd is a company incorporated in 1961 under the terms of the Companies Acts to 
provide sea transport to the North and South Isles of Orkney. The Council is the principle shareholder 
in the company holding all 7,500,000 £1 ordinary shares, representing 100% of the issued share 
capital. Under accounting standards, the Council has a controlling interest in this company, and it is 
therefore included in the group accounts as a subsidiary. Councillors hold all 5 seats on the board, 
with each director entitled to one vote. 

The net assets of the company at 31 March 2023 were £6.482M compared to net liabilities of £0.380M 
at 31 March 2022. There was a gain of £6.862M before taxation for the period to 31 March 2023 
compared to a loss of £0.093M to 31 March 2022. In 2022-23, Orkney Islands Council contributed 
£13.402M or 83.4% of the company’s income. Orkney Ferries is deficit funded, whereby, any 
surpluses or deficits earned by the Company will be repaid to or recovered from the Council. No 
dividend payments were due to, or received by, the Council in respect of its investment. 

The latest set of audited accounts is for the year to 31 March 2023. Copies of these accounts can be 
obtained from Orkney Islands Council, School Place, Kirkwall, Orkney, KW15 1NY. 

Pickaquoy Centre Trust 
The Pickaquoy Centre Trust is a charitable trust formed in 1999 and is registered in Scotland. Its 
principal place of business is The Pickaquoy Centre, Muddisdale Loan, Kirkwall KW15 1LR. The Trust 
provides leisure facilities within Orkney Islands Council's area to the general public. The objectives of 
the Trust are to provide facilities for recreation, sport, cultural and other leisure activities for the benefit 
of the community in Orkney. Any surplus generated by the charity is applied solely to its continuation 
and development. Councillors hold 5 of the 12 seats on the board, with each trustee entitled to one 
vote. 

In 2022-23, Orkney Islands Council contributed £0.792M or 29.9% of the company's income and its 
share of the year-end net assets of £0.826M (2021-22 net liabilities of £0.061M) is included in the 
Group Balance Sheet. 

The latest set of audited accounts is for the year to 31 March 2023. When available, copies of these 
accounts can be obtained from The Pickaquoy Centre, Muddisdale Loan, Kirkwall KW15 1LR. 

Hammars Hill Energy Ltd 
Hammars Hill Energy Ltd is a private limited company incorporated in 2006. Its principal activity is 
that of wind farm developer and electricity generator. 
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10. Other Pension Costs
A number of employees of Orkney Islands Council and Orkney Ferries Limited are not members of
the Council's pension scheme. Most of them participate in one of the Merchant Navy Pension Funds.

Ensign Retirement Plan 
Some employees from Orkney Ferries Limited and the Council contribute to this defined contribution 
pension plan. Contribution rates of 10% and 20% of pensionable salary are payable by employees 
and employers, respectively. Contributions payable in the year amounted to £55,162. 

Merchant Navy Officers Pension Fund (MNOPF) 
The MNOPF is closed to new members and closed to future accrual from 31 March 2016 when 
contributing members were transferred to the Ensign Retirement Plan (for the MNOPF). The MNOPF 
is a multiple employer scheme and the Council is unable to identify its share of the underlying assets 
and liabilities. As at the last full valuation in 2021 the Fund had a surplus of £58M which was an 
improvement from the 2018 deficit position of £73M. The Trustees of the Fund may in future request 
deficit contributions depending on the results of future actuarial valuations of the Fund.  

The Trustee must carry out a full actuarial valuation at least every three years to assess the scheme’s 
funding level. The next MNOPF Actuarial Valuation will refer to the three-year period ending 31 March 
2024. Following a period of consultation with the MNOPF’s participating employers, the final valuation 
results will be agreed by the Board towards the end of 2024 and communicated to members and 
employers early in 2025. 

Merchant Navy Rating Pension Fund (MNRPF) 
Some employees may qualify for membership of the MNRPF, a defined benefit scheme which closed 
to future accrual on 31 May 2001. For qualifying employees in the scheme Employers make 
contributions at the rate of 2% to provide for revaluation of benefits up to the date of retirement. It is 
a multiple employer scheme and the group is unable to identify its share of the underlying assets and 
liabilities. As at the last full valuation in March 2020, the MNRPF had a deficit of £96M which included 
a reserve figure of £70M for an unresolved court case. The trustees have indicated that they will not 
be seeking additional deficit contributions from participating employers at the present time. 
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Glossary of Terms 

AAA Fitch Rating 
Highest credit quality - ‘AAA’ ratings denote the lowest expectation of credit risk. They are assigned 
only in case of exceptionally strong capacity for timely payment of financial commitments. This 
capacity is highly unlikely to be adversely affected by foreseeable events. 
AA Fitch Rating 
Very high credit quality - ‘AA’ ratings denote a very low expectation of credit risk. They indicate very 
strong capacity for timely payment of financial commitments. This capacity is not significantly 
vulnerable to foreseeable events. 
A Fitch Rating 
High credit quality - ‘A’ ratings denote a low expectation of credit risk. The capacity for timely payment 
of financial commitments is considered strong. This capacity may, nevertheless, be more vulnerable 
to changes in circumstances or in economic conditions than is the case for higher ratings. 
Accounting Period 
The period of time covered by the accounts, normally a period of twelve months commencing on 1 
April. The end of the accounting period is the Balance Sheet date. 
Accruals 
Sums included in the final accounts to recognise revenue and capital income and expenditure earned 
or incurred in the financial year, but for which actual payment had not been received or made as at 
31 March. 
Actuarial Gains and Losses 
For a defined benefit pension scheme, the changes in actuarial surpluses or deficits that arise 
because: 

• Events have not coincided with the actuarial assumptions made for the last valuation
(experience gains and losses); or

• The actuarial assumptions have changed.
Asset 
An item having value to the authority in monetary terms. Assets are categorised as either current or 
non-current. 

• A current asset will be consumed or cease to have material value within the next financial year
(e.g., cash and stock).

• A non-current asset provides benefits to the Authority and to the services it provides for a
period of more than one year and may be tangible e.g., a community centre, or intangible,
e.g., computer software licences.

Audit of Accounts 
An independent examination of the Authority’s financial affairs. 
Balance Sheet 
A statement of the recorded assets, liabilities and other balances at the end of the accounting period. 
Borrowing 
Using cash provided by another party to pay for expenditure, on the basis of an agreement to repay 
the cash at a future point, usually incurring additional interest charges over and above the original 
amount. 
Budget 
The forecast of net revenue and capital expenditure over the accounting period. 
Capital Expenditure 
Expenditure on the acquisition of a fixed asset, which will be used in providing services beyond the 
current accounting period, or expenditure which adds to and not merely maintains the value of an 
existing fixed asset. 
Capital Financing 
Funds raised to pay for capital expenditure. There are various methods of financing capital 
expenditure including borrowing, leasing, direct revenue financing, usable capital receipts, capital 
grants, capital contributions, revenue reserves and earmarked balances. 

G
lossary 
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Capital Programme 
The capital schemes the Authority intends to carry out over a specific period of time. 
Capital Receipt 
The proceeds from the disposal of land or other fixed assets. Proportions of capital receipts can be 
used to finance new capital expenditure, within rules set down by the government but they cannot be 
used to finance revenue expenditure.  
Claw-Back 
Where average council house rents are set higher than the government’s prescribed average limit 
rent, used in the calculation of rent rebates, the percentage difference reduces the amount of rent 
rebate subsidy due to the authority, i.e., it is “clawed-back” by the government. 
CIPFA 
The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
Collection Fund 
A separate fund that records the income and expenditure relating to Council Tax and non-domestic 
rates. 
Community Assets 
Assets that the Authority intends to hold in perpetuity, that have no determinable useful life and that 
may have restrictions on their disposal. Examples of community assets are parks and historical 
buildings. 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
The account of the Authority that reports the net cost for the year of the functions for which it is 
responsible and demonstrates how that cost has been financed from precepts, grants and other 
income. 
Consistency 
The concept that the accounting treatment of like items within an accounting period and from one 
period to the next are the same. 
Contingent Asset 
A contingent asset is a possible asset arising from past events whose existence will be confirmed 
only by the occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the Authority’s 
accounts. 
Contingent Liability 
A contingent liability is either:  

• A possible obligation arising from past events whose existence will be confirmed only by the
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the Authority’s control; or

• A present obligation arising from past events where it is not probable that a transfer of
economic benefits will be required, or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with
sufficient reliability.

Corporate and Democratic Core 
The corporate and democratic core comprises all activities that local authorities engage in specifically 
because they are elected, multi-purpose authorities. The cost of these activities is thus over and above 
those which would be incurred by a series of independent single purpose, nominated bodies 
managing the same services. There is therefore no logical basis for apportioning these costs to 
services. 
Creditor 
Amount owed by the Authority for work done, goods received, or services rendered within the 
accounting period, but for which payment has not been made by the end of that accounting period. 
Current Service Cost (Pensions) 
The increase in the present value of a defined benefits pension scheme’s liabilities, expected to arise 
from employee service in the current period. 
Debtor 
Amount owed to the Authority for works done, goods received, or services rendered within the 
accounting period, but for which payment has not been received by the end of that accounting period. 
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Defined Benefit Pension Scheme 
Pension schemes in which the benefits received by the participants are independent of the 
contributions paid and are not directly related to the investments of the scheme. 
Depreciation 
The measure of the cost of wearing out, consumption or other reduction in the useful economic life of 
the Authority’s fixed assets during the accounting period, whether from use, the passage of time or 
obsolescence through technical or other changes. 
Discretionary Benefits (Pensions) 
Retirement benefits, which the employer has no legal, contractual or constructive obligation to award 
and are awarded under the Authority’s discretionary powers such as the Local Government 
(Discretionary Payments) Regulations 1996.  
Equity 
The Authority’s value of total assets less total liabilities. 
Events after the Balance Sheet Date 
Events after the Balance Sheet date are those events, favourable or unfavourable, that occur between 
the Balance Sheet date and the date when the Statement of Accounts is authorised for issue. 
Expected Return on Pension Assets 
For a funded defined benefit scheme, this is the average rate of return, including both income and 
changes in fair value but net of scheme expenses, which is  expected over the remaining life of the 
related obligation on the actual assets held by the scheme. 
Fair Value 
The fair value of an asset is the price at which it could be exchanged in an arm’s length transaction.

Finance Lease 
A lease that transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of a fixed asset to the 
lessee. 
Going Concern 
The concept that the Annual Accounts is prepared on the assumption that the Authority will continue 
in operational existence for the foreseeable future. 
Government Grants 
Grants made by the government towards either revenue or capital expenditure in return for past or 
future compliance with certain conditions relating to the activities of the Authority. These grants may 
be specific to a particular scheme or may support the revenue spend of the Authority in general. 
Housing Benefits 
A system of financial assistance to individuals towards certain housing costs  administered by 
authorities and subsidised by central government. 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
A separate account to the General Fund, which includes the income and expenditure arising from the 
provision of housing accommodation by the Authority. 
Impairment 
A reduction in the value of a fixed asset to below its recoverable amount, the higher of the asset's fair 
value less costs to sell and its value in use. 
Infrastructure Assets 
Fixed assets belonging to the Authority that cannot be transferred or sold, on which expenditure is 
only recoverable by the continued use of the asset created. Examples are highways, footpaths and 
bridges. 
Intangible Assets 
An intangible (non-physical) item may be defined as an asset when access to the future economic 
benefits it represents is controlled by the reporting entity. This Authority’s intangible assets comprise 
computer software licences. 
Interest Cost (Pensions) 
For a defined benefit scheme, the expected increase during the period of the present value of the 
scheme liabilities because the benefits are one period closer to settlement. 
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Investments (Pension Fund) 
The investments of the Pension Fund will be accounted for in the statements of that fund. However, 
authorities are also required to disclose, as part of the disclosure requirements relating to retirement 
benefits, the attributable share of the pension scheme assets associated with their underlying 
obligations. 
Liability 
A liability is where the Authority owes payment to an individual or another organisation. 

• A current liability is an amount which will become payable or could be called in within the next
accounting period, e.g., creditors or cash overdrawn.

• A deferred liability is an amount which by arrangement is payable beyond the next year at
some point in the future or to be paid off by an annual sum over a period of time.

Liquid Resources 
Current asset investments that are readily disposable by the Authority without disrupting its business 
and are either:  

• Readily convertible to known amounts of cash at or close to the carrying amount; or
• Traded in an active market

Long-Term Contract 
A contract entered into for the design, manufacture or construction of a single substantial asset or the 
provision of a service (or a combination of assets or services which together constitute a single 
project), where the time taken to substantially complete the contract is such that the contract activity 
falls into more than one accounting period. 
Materiality 
The concept that the Annual Accounts should include all amounts which, if omitted, or mis-stated, 
could be expected to lead to a distortion of the financial statements and ultimately mislead a user of 
the accounts. 
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 
The minimum amount which must be charged to the revenue account each year in order to provide 
for the repayment of loans and other amounts borrowed by the Authority. 
Net Book Value 
The amount at which fixed assets are included in the Balance Sheet, i.e., their historical costs or 
current value less the cumulative amounts provided for depreciation. 
Net Debt 
The Authority’s borrowings less cash and liquid resources. 
Non-Distributed Costs  
These are overheads for which no user now benefits and as such are not apportioned to services. 
Non-Domestic Rates (NDR) 
The Non-Domestic Rate is a levy on businesses, based on a national rate in the pound set by central 
government and multiplied by the assessed rateable value of the premises they occupy. In England 
it is collected by the Authority on behalf of itself, central government and major preceptors. In Scotland 
it is collected by the Authority on behalf of central government and then redistributed back to support 
the cost of services. 
Non-Operational Assets 
Fixed assets held by the Authority but not directly occupied, used or consumed in the delivery of 
services. Examples are investment properties, assets under construction or assets surplus to 
requirements pending sale or redevelopment. 
Operating Lease 
A lease where the ownership of the fixed asset remains with the lessor. 
Operational Assets 
Fixed assets held and occupied, used or consumed by the Authority in the pursuit of its strategy and 
in the direct delivery of those services for which it has either a statutory or discretionary responsibility. 
Past Service Cost (Pensions) 
For a defined benefit pension scheme, the increase in the present value of the scheme liabilities 
related to employee service in prior periods arising in the current period as a result of the introduction 
of, or improvement to retirement benefits. 
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Pension Scheme Liabilities 
The liabilities of a defined benefit pension scheme for outgoings due after the valuation date. Scheme 
liabilities measured during the projected unit method reflect the benefits that the employer is 
committed to provide for service up to the valuation date. 
Precept 
The levy made by precepting authorities by billing authorities, requiring the latter to collect income 
from Council Tax on their behalf. 
Prior Year Adjustment 
Material adjustments applicable to previous years arising from changes in accounting policies or from 
the correction of fundamental errors. This does not include normal recurring corrections or 
adjustments of accounting estimates made in prior years. 
Provision 
An amount put aside in the accounts for future liabilities or losses which are certain or very likely to 
occur but the amounts or dates of when they will arise are uncertain. 
Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) 
A Central Government Agency, which provides loans for one year and above to authorities at interest 
rates only slightly higher than those at which the government can borrow itself. 
Rateable Value 
The annual assumed rental of a hereditament, which is used for National Non-Domestic Rate 
purposes. 
Related Parties 
There is a detailed definition of related parties in FRS 8. For the Council’s purposes related parties 
are deemed to include the Authority’s members, the Chief Executive, its Directors and their close 
family and household members. 
Related Party Transactions 
The Statement of Recommended Practice requires the disclosure of any material transactions 
between the Authority and related parties to ensure that stakeholders are aware when these 
transactions occur and the amount and implications of such. 
Remuneration 
All sums paid to or receivable by an employee and sums due by way of expenses allowances (as far 
as those sums are chargeable to UK income tax) and the money value of any other benefits received, 
other than in cash. Pension contributions payable by the employer are excluded. 
Reserves 
The accumulation of surpluses, deficits and appropriations over past years. Reserves of a revenue 
nature are available and can be spent or earmarked at the discretion of the Authority. Some capital 
reserves such as the fixed asset restatement account cannot be used to meet current expenditure. 
Residual Value 
The net realisable value of an asset at the end of its useful life. 
Retirement Benefits 
All forms of consideration given by an employer in exchange for services rendered by employees that 
are payable after the completion of employment. 
Revenue Expenditure 
The day-to-day expenses of providing services. 
Revenue Expenditure Capitalised Under Statute (REFCUS) 
Expenditure which ordinarily would be revenue but is statutorily defined as capital. Examples of 
REFCUS include grants of a capital nature to voluntary organisations and back pay expenditure 
capitalised under Secretary of State Direction. 
Revenue Support Grant 
A grant paid by Central Government to authorities, contributing towards the general cost of their 
services. 
Stocks 
Items of raw materials and stores an authority has procured and holds in expectation of future use. 
Examples are consumable stores, raw materials and products and services in intermediate stages of 
completion. 
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Temporary Borrowing 
Money borrowed for a period of less than one year. 
Trust Funds 
Funds administered by the Authority for such purposes as prizes, charities, specific projects and on 
behalf of minors. 
Useful Economic Life (UEL) 
The period over which the Authority will derive benefits from the use of a fixed asset. 
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Finance Services, School Place, Kirkwall, Orkney, KW15 1NY 
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